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2019 10

2014 47,204,495.18 5,139,625 10.495 1,143
2015 38,889,485.62 4,234,287 10.144 1,104
2016 23,984,093.46 2,611,388 9.327 1,016
2017 16,710,779.19 1,819,470 10.226 1,113
2018 11,725,170.03 1,276,637 9.909 1,079
2019 10,731,974.05 1,168,497 10.347 1,127
2018 11 10,830,953.51 1,179,274 10.173 1,108
12 10,775,186.51 1,173,202 10.147 1,105

2019 10,822,310.81 1,178,333 10.273 1,119
10,908,675.85 1,187,737 10.419 1,134

10,553,683.21 1,149,085 10.238 1,115

10,695,760.65 1,164,554 10.419 1,134

10,492,455.95 1,142,419 10.290 1,120

10,731,974.05 1,168,497 10.347 1,127

10,426,367.41 1,135,223 10.503 1,144

9,570,671.48 1,042,055 9.915 1,080

9,420,059.13 1,025,656 9.994 1,088

10 9,189,481.66 1,000,551 9.976 1,086

2018 12 2019
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2014 12,233,407.51 920,931 10.629 800
2015 8,474,157.70 637,935 10.490 790
2016 8,060,522.95 606,796 9.677 728
2017 4,196,907.51 315,943 10.649 802
2018 3,297,043.48 248,201 10.292 775
2019 4,463,685.73 336,026 10.636 801
2018 11 3,307,434.39 248,984 10.533 793
12 3,444,374.72 259,293 10.490 790

2019 3,822,995.93 287,795 10.613 799
3,899,337.46 293,542 10.758 810

3,827,910.56 288,165 10.560 795

4,493,743.95 338,289 10.738 808

4,432,238.08 333,659 10.590 797

4,463,685.73 336,026 10.636 801

4,471,441 .84 336,610 10.782 812

4,191,381.93 315,527 10.155 764

4,224,084.24 317,989 10.222 770

10 4,105,361.78 309,052 10.186 767
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2014 2,461,316.80 298,952 10.463 1,271
2015 2,291,896.26 278,374 10.072 1,223
2016 1,629,381.23 197,905 9.183 1,115
2017 1,349,993.60 163,970 9.907 1,203
2018 1,040,801.60 126,416 9.347 1,135
2019 768,129.56 93,297 9.461 1,149
2018 11 812,247.43 98,656 9.502 1,154
12 807,309.70 98,056 9.444 1,147

2019 814,558.93 98,936 9.530 1,158
824,082.22 100,093 9.641 1,171

807,320.42 98,057 9.445 1,147

819,272.65 99,509 9.585 1,164

806,525.96 97,961 9.436 1,146

768,129.56 93,297 9.461 1,149

758,457.20 92,122 9.578 1,163

713,717.89 86,688 9.013 1,095

717,365.60 87,131 9.059 1,100

10 714,217.97 86,749 9.019 1,095
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2013 13 4.95
2014
2014 2015 -3.34
2015 2016 -8.05
2016 2017 9.64
2017 2018 -3-10
2018 2019 4.42
2013 13 6.29
2014
2014 2015 -1.31
2015 2016 775
2016 2017 10.04
2017 2018 ~3-35
2018 2019 3.34
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2016 2017 7.88
2017 2018 =565
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2013 13 5,649,999.225 1,152,275.410 4,497,723.815
2014 (5,649,999.225) | (1,152,275.410) | (4,497,723.815)
2014 988,912.962 1,652,866.295 3,833,770.482
5016 (988,912.962) | (1,652,866.295) | (3,833,770.482)
2015 95,047.671 1,357,480.370 2,571,337.783
5016 (95,047.671) (1,357,480.370) | (2,571,337.783)
2016 115,643.499 1,052,798.202 1,634,183.080
5017 (115,643.499) | (1,052,798.202) | (1,634,183.080)
2017 46,248.094 497,161.818 1,183,269.356
5018 46,248.094 497,161.818 1,183,269.356
2018 72,941.181 218,967.255 1,037,243.282
5010 72,941.181 218,967.255 1,037,243.282

2013 13 1,469,342.234 318,356.255 1,150,985.979
2014 (1,469,342.234) | (318,356.255) | (1,150,985.979)
2014 262,602.779 605,740.732 807,848.026
5016 (262,602.779) (605,740.732) (807,848.026)
2015 250,329.765 225,302.621 832,875.170
5016 (250,329.765) (225,302.621) (832,875.170)
2016 25,505.490 464,264.185 394,116.475
5017 (25,505.490) (464,264.185) (394,116.475)
2017 18,400.459 92,166.056 320,350.878
5018 18,400.459 92,166.056 320,350.878
2018 133,469.880 34,143.649 419,677.109
5010 133,469.880 34,143.649 419,677.109
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2013 13 269,404 .269 34,165.676 235,238.593
2014 (269,404.269) (34,165.676) (235,238.593)
2014 42,476.626 50,167.189 227,548.030
5016 (42,476.626) (50,167.189) (227,548.030)
2015 13,310.936 63,432.042 177,426.924
S0le (13,310.936) (63,432.042) (177,426.924)
2016 5,477.811 46,640.242 136,264.493
5017 (5,477.811) (46,640.242) (136,264.493)
2017 3,366.996 28,280.529 111,350.960
5018 3,366.996 28,280.529 111,350.960
2018 315.060 30,476.975 81,189.045
5019 315.060 30,476.975 81,189.045

2013 30 2013 11

10
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1,000
100 0.01
100 0.01
100 0.01
0.001 0.001
0.001 0.001

0.001 0.001
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131

23 103

2019 10 31
108.88 75.28 121.46
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2019 30
)
2019 2018
388,599 42,311 145,622 15,855
14,578,197 1,587,274 15,368,643 1,673,338
14,966,796 1,629,585 15,514,265 1,689,193
4,885 532
59,907 6,523 64,077 6,977
150,000 16,332
24,364 2,653 129,141 14,061
234,271 25,507 198,103 21,569
14,732,525 1,604,077 15,316,162 1,667,624
419,677 320,351
81,189 111,351
1,037,243 1,183,269
10.638 801 10.268 773
9.463 1,149 9.325 1,133
10.349 1,127 9.886 1,076

721266
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2019 30
( )
2019 2018
7,11 750 82 815 89

8 691,865 75,330 (313,328) (34,115)
(2,056) (224) (1,871) (204)
690,559 75,188 (314,384) (34,230)
11 (23,358) (2,543) (29,678) (3,231)
11 (10,250) (1,116) (10,750) (1,170)
11 (8,759) (954) (11,129) (1,212)
11 (109,490) (11,921) (139,115) (15,147)
11 (1,460) (159) (1,855) (202)
11 (11,679) (1,272) (14,839) (1,616)
(30,841) (3,359) (30,392) (3,309)
11 (8,043) (876) (7,979) (869)
(2,489) (271) (74,341) (8,094)
(27,440) (2,988) (27,139) (2,955)
(233,808) (25,457) (347,217) (37,805)

456,751 49,731 (661,601) (72,035)
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2019 30
( )
2019 2018
15,316,162 1,667,624 21,479,624 2,338,701
10(a) 1,015,865 110,607 152,305 16,583
10(a) 3,438 374 38,542 4,196
10(a) 758,313 82,565 471,198 51,304
1,777,616 193,547 662,045 72,083
10(a) (258,061) (28,098) (770,194) (83,859)
10(a) (327,562) (35,665) (331,241) (36,066)
10(a) (2,232,381) (243,062) (5,062,471) (551,202)
(2,818,004) (306,824) (6,163,906) (671,126)
(1,040,388) (113,277) (5,501,861) (599,043)
456,751 49,731 (661,601) (72,035)

14,732,525 1,604,077 15,316,162 1,667,624
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2019 30
)
2019 2018

456,751 49,731 (661,601) (72,035)
(750) (82) (815) (89)
(787,395) (85,732) 682,905 74,355
(331,394) (36,082) 20,489 2,231
1,572,956 171,263 5,447,171 593,088
(4,170) (454) 3,494 380

150,000 16,332
750 82 815 89
1,388,142 151,141 5,471,969 595,788
1,777,616 193,547 668,045 72,737
(2,922,781) (318,232) (6,345,013) (690,845)
(1,145,165) (124,686) (5,676,968) (618,108)
242,977 26,455 (204,999) (22,320)
145,622 15,855 350,621 38,176
388,599 42,311 145,622 15,855
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2019 2018
388,599 145,622

2019 2018
14,539,053 15,364,395
39,144 4,248
14,578,197 15,368,643

(4,855)
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2019 2018
750 815
C )

2019 2018
934,657 (236,666)
(242,792) (76,662)
691,865 (313,328)
(95,530) 369,577
787,395 (682, 905)
691,865 (313,328)
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)
)
2018 30
(2018
2019 30 2018 30
3,133,318 156,836 2,411,654 121,548
872,102 43,721 1,200,820 60,731
4,005,420 200,557 3,612,474 182,279
(2018 )
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(2018 )
726,953 (2018 768,220 )
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2019
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2019 30 2018 30
2019
49,872 10,035 59,907
150,000 150,000
24,364 24,364
14,732,525 14,732,525
14,732,525 224,236 10,035 14,966,796
2018
59,042 5,035 64,077
129,141 129,141
15,316,162 15,316,162
15,316,162 188,183 5,035 15,509,380
4,885 4,885

@

Q)

13
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2019
14,539,053 14,539,053
39,144 39,144
14,578,197 14,578,197

2018
15,364,395 15,364,395
4,248 4,248
15,368, 643 15,368, 643
(4,885) (4,885)

2019 30 2018 30
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2019
388,599 388,599
(59,907) (59,907)
(150,000) (150,000)
(24,364) (24,364)
(14,732,525) (14,732,525)
(14,966,796) (14,966,796)

2018
145,622 145,622
(64,077) (64,077)
(129,141) (129,141)
(15,316,162) (15,316,162)
(15,509, 380) (15,509, 380)
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)
2019
4,477,128 3,101,034 2019 31 35,696
766,953 870,965 2019 31 3,448
2018
1,037,147 1,210,376 2018 31 4,248
3,282,830 2,435,853 2018 31 (4,885)
( ( )
(
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( ) ( )
( ) ( )
2019
( ) ( )
320,351 111,351 1,183,269
133,470 315 72,941
(34,144) (30,477) (218,967)
30 419,677 81,189 1,037,243
2018
( ) ( )
394,116 136,265 1,634,183
18,401 3,367 46,248
(92,166) (28,281) (497,162)
30 320,351 111,351 1,183,269
30 2018 30
10
2019 30
14,732,525 (2018 15,316,162 )
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2019
) ( )
3,123,877 873,445 10,731,974 14,729,296
685 191 2,353 3,229
3,124,562 873,636 10,734,327 14,732,525
2018
) ( )
2,422,102 1,205,047 11,725,170 15,352,319
(5,713) (2,843) (27,658) (36,214)
9 4 44 57
2,416,398 1,202,208 11,697,556 15,316,162
2019
) ( )
419,677 81,189 1,037,243
419,677 81,189 1,037,243
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2018
( ) ( )
320,351 111,351 1,183,269
320,351 111,351 1,183,269
0.16
10,000
0.08
0.75
0.01
0.08
8,000
8,043
(2018 7,979 )
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12

2019 2018
23,358 4,138 29,678 4,486
10,250 10,035 10,750 5,035
8,759 6,131 11,129 6,236
109,490 8,923 139,115 9,603
1,460 119 1,855 128
11,679 952 14,839 1,024
8,043 793 7,979 8,749
2019 30
750 (2018 815 )
9a(C )
@®C)
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) 23 2019

2015-2017 2019
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( )
2019 2018
( ) 14,729,296 15,352,319
(
)
( ) 10.636 10.292
( ) 9.461 9.347
10.347 9.909
( )
( ) 10.618 10.818
( ) 9.589 10.059
10.470 10.389
( ) 10.098 10.235
( ) 9.375 9.308
9.679 9.844
( ) 3.34 -3.35
( ) 1.22 -5.65
4.42 -3.10
2019 2018
( )
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Tempieion Gichal Bond Fond Foraign Curmancy Seves =
8 seres e of Red Are Gobal invastmeals (Capman) Trus?
Finsnedaf sfatements fof ihe year ended 30 Juns 2019

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019

{Expressed in United Stales dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Mote 2019 2018

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 31 kS 388,599 3 145,622
Financlal assets at falr value through profit or

loss 4 14,578,197 15,368,643
Total assets % 14,966,796 § 15514265
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss 4 s - 5 4,885
Ageruals and other payables 1 59,907 64,077
Amounts due to brokers 5 150,000 .
Redemption payable i1 24,364 129,141
Total liabilities (excluding net assets

attributable to the unitholder) & 234201 ] 198,103
MNet assets attributable to the unitholder 10 $ 14,732,525 $ 15316162
Total number of units in issue
AUD Hedged class 10(a) 419,677 320,351
EUR Hedged class 10(a) 81,189 111,351
USD class 10(a) 1,037,243 1,183,269
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Tempiton Global Bond Fond Foreign Currency Senes
& sevies st of Red Are Giobal invesiments {Cayman) Thusf
Frwscaal stalements for the virar enoed J0 Juns 2016

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019

(continued)
{Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Nola 2019
Met asset value per unit in local currency
AUD Hedgad class AUD 10638
EUR Hedged class EUR ©483
LUSD class Ush  10.24%

20718
AUD 10,288
EUR  89.325
UsD 9.BBE

Approved and authorised for issue by the Trustee and the Manager on & December 2018

=S Y 4

. "ﬂ:f" PH“J-'PS

rand on behalf of CIBC Bank and Trust

. norised Sgnatody  RONNIE CUTHPREompany (Cayman) Limited (‘Trustee”)

)

) Fer and an behalf of Citigroup First Investment
) Management Limited ("Manager”)

)

Tha notes on pagas 12 to 47 form part of these financial statements.
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Tampisdon bl Bond Fund Fovem Corency Seres -
o seres sl of Red Are Global investmens (Capmman) Trst
Financin stafamands for the pear ended S0 Juse 2019

Statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 June 2019
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Note 2019 2018

Interest incomea calculated using the effective

interest method 7,11 5 750 % 815
Mat gaini{loss) on financial instruments at fair

value thraugh profit or loss 8 691,865 (313,328)
Met foreign exchange loss (2,058) (1.871)
Total gaini{loss) ¥ 690,659 $  (314,384)
Management fae 11 -3 (23,358) $ (29,678)
Trustes fes 11 (10,2500 (10,750)
Administrator, transfer agent and custedian

fees 11 (8,759) (11,129)
Distributor fee 11 {109,450) (129,115)
Agent company fee 11 {1.460) {1,855)
Senvice provider fes 11 {11,679) (14,839)
Audit fee (30,841) (30,392)
Financial staterments preparation fee 11 {8,043) (79793
Legal and professional fee {2,488) (74,341)
Others (27 ,440) (27.139)
Total operating expenses s (233808) S (347217
Change in net assets attributable to the

unithalder from operations and total

comprehensive income for the year 5 455751 §  (661,601)

The notes on pages 12 to 47 form part of these financial statemenis.
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Tampiadon Global Bond Fund Foroign Curmency Seres -
o senits brust of Red A Global investments [Cayman) Trust
Financisd siataranta for ive pear evnlid 50 June 2019

Statement of changes in net assets attributable to the unitholder

for the year ended 30 June 2019
(Expressed in United States dollars unfess otherwise indicated)

Note 2019 2018
Balance at the baginning of the year % 15,318,162 § 21479624
Transactions with the unitholder
Subseription of units
- AUD Hedged class 10{a) £ 1,015885 ] 152,305
- EUR Hedged class 10{a} 3.438 38,542
- USD class 10¢a) TER,213 471,198

§ 1777616 ] 662,045

Redemption of units

- AUD Hedged class 10{a) § (258061) S (770,194)
- EUR Hedged class 10(a) (327 562) (331,241)
- USD class 10{a) (2,232,381) (5,062,471)

$ (2,818,004) $ (6,163,906)

Total transactions with the unithelder § (1.040,388) § (5,501.861)

Change in net assets attributable to the
unitholder from operations and total
comprehensive income for the year 458,751 {681,601}

Balance at the end of the year % 14,732 525 3 15316162

The notes on pages 12 fo 47 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 30 June 2019
(Exprassed in United Stafes dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

2018 2018

Operating activities
Change in net assets attributable to the

unitholder from operations and total

comprehensive income for the year 3 456,751 § (861,601
Adjustments for:

Interest incoma {750) {815)

Met unrealised (gain)loss {787,385) GEZ,805

Operating (loss)/gain before changes in

working capital $ (331.394) 3 20,489
Met decrease in financial assets and liabilities

at fair valua through profit or loss 1,572,856 E 447 171
(Decreaselincraase in accruals and other

payabjes (4,170} 3,494
Increase in amounts dus to brokers 150,000 -
Interest received 750 815
Met cash generated from operating activities & 1,388,142 § 5471969
Financing activities
Froceeds from unit subscriptions § 1777616 3 658,045
Payments on unit redemptions (2,922 781) (6,345,013)
Net cash used in financing activities $ (1,145165) & (5,676,968)

Met increasel/{decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents $ 242577 $ (204,999)
Cash and cash equivalents at the

baginning of the year 145,622 350821
Cash and cash equivalents at the

end of the year $§ 388598 § 145622

The notes on pages12 to 47 form part of these financial stataments.
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Notes to the financial statements
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

General

Red Arc Global Investmeants (Cayman) Trust (the “Trust™) is an umbrella unit trust established
as an exempted rust under the Trust Laws of the Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated 21
October 2008, as amended and restated on 10 March 2015, between Citigroup First
Investment Management Limited as manager (the “Manager”) and CIBC Bank and Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited as trustee (the “Trustea”) (jointly *“Management”). The Trust was
registered under the Mutual Funds Law of the Cayman lslands on 27 October 2008,
Templeton Glebal Bond Fund Forelgn Currency Series (the “Series Trust”) was established
on § August 2013, The Series Trust's first dealing day was 17 September 2013.

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to maximise total investment return consisting
of a combination of interest income, capital appreciation and currency gains. The Series
Trust seeks to achieve this investment objective through investment mainly in a United
Slates dollars ("USD™) denominated share class of the Templeton Global Bond Fund {the
“Investment Fund®).

As at 30 June 2019 and 2018, the Trust and the Series Trust had no employees. The
investmant activities of the Series Trust are managed by the Manager. The administration
and custodian functions of the Series Trust are delegated to Cilibank N.A. Hong Kong
Branch (the “Administrator” and the "Custedian®). SMBC Trust Bank Ltd. is the distributor (the
“Distributor”) of the Series Trust.

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accardance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKAS=") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the Senes Trust Is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Saries Trust. Mote 2(d) provides
information on any changes in accounting policles resulting frem initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Series Trust for the current and prior
accounting pericds reflected in these financial statements,
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued]
{b) Basis of preparation

The functional and presentation currency of the financial statements is the USD {rounded to
the nearest LWS0) and not the local curmency of tha Cayman |slands reflecting the fact that the
units of the Series Trust are issued and redeemed in USD and the Serdes Trust's
performance is measured in USD terms.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements iz the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are stated at their fair value as explained
in the accounting policies, note 2{e). Other financial assets and liabilities are stated at
amortised cost or redemption amount (redeemable units).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS2 requires Management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factars that are belleved to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent fram
other sourcas. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongeing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the perlod of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future pericds.

Judgements made by Management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discuszed In
note 12.

{e) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into USD at the foreign
exchange rates at the ransaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the end of
the reporting period.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are reccgnised in profit or loss as nel
foreign axchange gain or loss, except for those arising from financial assets and liabilities at

fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised as a component of the net gain or loss
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{d) Changes in accounting policies

Tha HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Series Trust. Of these, the following developments are
relevant to the Series Trust's financial statements.

-  HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

The Seres Trust has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period (see note 13), except for the amendments to HKFRS 9,
Frepayment features with negafive compensation which have been adopted at the same
time as HKFRS 8.

As permitted by the fransition provisions of HKFRS 9, comparative information throughout
theze financial statements has not generally been restated 1o reflect the requirements of the
standard,

Except for the changes below, the Series Trust has consistently applied the accounting
policies as set oul in note 2(a) to all periods presented in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces
HKAS 38 Financial fnstruments: Recognition and Measurement.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 9, the Series Trust has adopted consequential
amendments to HKAS 1 Fresentalion of Financial Stalorments, which require:

- impairment of financial assets to be presented in a separate line item in the statement of
comprehensive income. Under HKAS 39, impairment was recognised when losses were
incurred. The Series Trust did not previously report any incurred losses; and

- separate presentation in the statement of comprehensive income of interest revenue
from financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive incoma ("FVOCIT) calculated wsing the effective interest method.
Freviously, the Series Trust disclosed this amount in the notes to the financial
statements.

The adopton of HKFRS 9 had no material impact on the net assets attrbutable o
unitholders of the Series Trust.
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2  Significant accounting policies {continued)
i Classification and measuremeant of financial assets and financial liabilities

HKFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets:
measured at amertised cost, FVOC| and fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL").
The classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is generally based on the
business model in which a financial as=et i= managed and its contractual cash flow
characteristics, HKFRS 9 eliminates the previous HKAS 39 categories of held to
maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale. Under HKFRS 9, derivatives
embedded in contracis where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard
are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrumeant as a whole is assessed
for classification.

HKFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in HKAS 39 for the classification and
measurement of financial llabiliies.

The adopticn of HKFRS 3 has not had a significant effect on the Series Trust's
accounting policies related to financial liabilities.

For an explanation of how the Serdes Trust classifies and measures financial
instruments and accounts for related gains and losses under HKFRS 9, see note 2(a).

The following table and the accompanying nofes below explain the eriginal
measurement categories under HKAS 39 and the new measurement categorias undar
HKFRS 9 for each class of the Series Trust's financial assets and financial liabilities as

at 1 July 2018.
Cirigined classification New classification
Note under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9
Financial azsets
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortised cost
Financial assets at fair value Designated as at
through profit or loss {a) FWTPL  Mandatarily at FVTPL
Financial liabilities
Accruals and other payables Amortised cost Amortised cost
Redemption payable Amortised cost Amortised cost
Financial liabilities at fair Designated as at
value through profit or loss {a) FYTPL  Mandatorily at FYTPL

(@ Under HKAS 33, these financial instruments were designated as at FVTPL
because they were managed on a fair value basis and their performance was
monitorad on this basis. These assets have been classified as mandatorily
measured at FVTPL under HKFRS 9,

The carrying amounts for all financial liabilities at 1 July 2018 have not been impacted
by tha initial application of HKFRS 8.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

i,

Impairment of financial assats

HEFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss™ model in HKAS 39 with an expected credit loss
("ECL") model. The new impairment model applies to financial assets measured at
amortised cost and debt instruments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity
instruments. Under HKFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under HKAS
39,

The effect of adopting HKFRS 8 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at 1 July
2018 relates solely to the new impairment requirements. The Manager considers the
probability of default to be close fo zero as the counterparties have a strong capacity to
meet thelr contractual oblfgations in the near term. There is no impairment allowance
recognized on cash and cash equivalents on the initial application of HKFRS 9's
impairment requirements as at 1 July 2018, Therefare, the carrying amounts of the
financial assels remain the same,

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoptlon of HKFRS 9 have been
applied retrospectively, excapt as described below.

- Comparative paricds have not generally been restated. Differances In the carrying
amounts of financlal assets resulting from the adoplion of HKFRS 9 are recognised
in net assets attributable to unitholders as at 1 July 2018. Accordingly, the
information presented for 2018 does not reflect the requirements of HKFRS @, but
rather those of HKAS 38,

- The Series Trust has used the exemption not to restate comparative periods but
considering that the amendments made by HKFRS 9 to HKAS 1 introduced the
requirement to present interest income from financial assets that are subsequently
measured at amortised cost or FWOCI as a separate line item in the statement of
comprehensive income. There is no interest income from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss in comparative periods and the reperting perlad,

- The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and
circumstances that axisted at the date of initial application.

- The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is hald.

- The revocation of previous designations of cerain financial assets as
measured at FVTPL.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(@) Financial instruments

(I} Initial recognition

The Series Trust classifies its financial instruments into different categories at inception as
mentioned in (i) below. Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which
normally will be equal to the fransaction price. Transaction costs on financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit ar loss are expensed immediately. !

The Series Trust recognises financial assets and financial liabilities an the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets and financial liabliiies at fair value through profit or loss is recognised using
trade date accounting. From these dates, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities at falr value through profit or loss are
recorded as they aceur,

(i Categorisation
{A} Palicy applicable from 1 July 2018

On initial reccgnition, the Series Trust classifies financial assels as measured at
amorised cost or FYTPL.

A financial assel iz measured at amortised cost if it mests both of the following
conditions and is not designated as at FWTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- lts contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interast (“SPPI").

All other financial assets of the Series Trust are measured at FVTPL.
(B) Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial
assot is held, the Series Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the
business is managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this sirategy In practice.
This includes whether the investment strategy focuses on eaming contractual
intarest income, maintaining & paricular interest rate profile, matching the duration
of the financial assels to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash
outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

- how the performance of the portfolia is evaluated and reported to the Series
Trust’s management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial
assets held within that business model) and how those risks are managead;
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

-~ how management is compensated. e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assats managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the
reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for
derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, cansistent with the Series
Trust's continuing recognition of the assels,

The Series Trust has determined that it has two business models.

- Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents, These
financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

-  Other business model: this includes derivative financial instruments. These
financial instruments are managed and their parformance ls evaluated, on a fair
value basis, with frequent sales taking place.

Assessmen! whelher comfractual cash flows ane SFPI

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal” is defined as the fair value of the
financial asset cn initial recognition. ‘Interast’ is defined as consideration for the time
value of maney and for the cradit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular period of fime and for other basic lending risks and costs (eq.
liquidity risk and administrafive costs), as well as a profit margin,

In assessing whether the conlractual cash flows are SPP], the Series Trust considers
the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whather tha financial
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Series Trust considers:

-~ contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- leverage features;
- prepayment and extension features;

- tarms that limit the Series Trust's claim to cash flows from specified assels (e.g.
non=recourse features); and

- festures that modify consideration for of the time value of money (e.g. periodical
reset of interest rates).

The Series Trust classifies ts investments based on the business model and
contractual cash flows assessment.  Accordingly, the Series Trust classifies all jts

investments dervative financlal assets into financial assets at FWTPL category.
Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash and cash equivalents.

18

122/266



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Tamplefon Glabal Band Fund Foreign Cunency Sevies -
& sanses fust of Red A Gioba! invesimends (Capman) Trust
Frnanciel falements for the yeav éndad 30 Jwes 2079

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(<

Reclassifications

- Finaneclal assats are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition uniess
the Series Trust were to change its business model for managing financial assets,
in which case all affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of
the first reporting period following the change in the business modal,

Palicy applicable prior to 1 July 2018

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial
assets and liabilities held for frading purpose, and those designated at fair value
through profit or [oss upon initial recognifion,

Trading financial instruments are those financial assels and liabilities which are
acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of shor-lerm profit taking. In addition,
darivatives are accounted for as trading instruments,

Financial instruments are designaled at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recagnition when:

- the assets or liabilites are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair
value basis;

- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accountfing mismatch which
would ctherwise arise;

= the asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the
cash flows that would othenwize be required under the contract; or

- the separation of the embedded derivative(s) from the financial instrument is not
prohibited.,

Financial agzatz and financial liabilities under this category are carried at fair value.
Changes in the fair value are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Upon disposal or repurchase, the difference between the net sale proceeds or the net
payment and the camying value is included in the net realised gain or loss on financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss,

The Series Trust uses the weighted average method to determine realised gains and
losses o be recognised in profit or loss on derecognition.

Financial assets classified as loans and recelvables are carried at amortised cost using
the effective inferest method, less impairment, if any. Financial assets that are
classified as loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities that are not designated at fair value through profit or loss are

measured at amortised cost using effective interest method and include accruals and
other payables, amounts due to brokers and redemption payable,
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{iiy Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurament date in the principal
of, in its absence, the most advantagecus market to which the Series Trust has access at
that date, The fair value of a llability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Series Trust measuras tha fair value of a financlal instrument using the
guoted price in an acltive market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if
transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing infarmation an an ongoing basis.

If there iz no quoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a price from a
broker/dealer for non-exchange-traded financial instruments, or if the market for it is not
active, the fair value of the instrument is astimated using valuation techniques that provide a
reliable estimate of prices which could be abtained In astual market transactions.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally
the transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received, [f the Series
Trust datermines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and
the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an idantical asset
or liability nor based on 2 valuation technique that used only data from observable markets,
the financial Instrument Is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference
betwean the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that
diference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basizs over the lifa of the
instrument but no later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market
data or the transaction is closed oul.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on
the management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of
the reporiing year applicable for an instrument with similar ferms and conditions. Where
other pricing modals are used, inpuls are based on markel data at the and of the reporting

year,

The Series Trust recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as al the end
of the raporting year in which the change has occurred.
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2  Significant accounting policies [continued)
(W) Impairment
(A} Policy applicable from 1 July 2018

The Series Trust recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

The Series Trust measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
except for the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

~  financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date;
and

~  other financial assets for which credit risk {i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected |ife of the assel) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

When defermining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increasead
significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Series Trust
considers reasonable and supportable Information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Series Trust's historical experience and informed credit
assassment and including forward-looking information.

The Series Trust assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significanthy if it is more than 30 days past dus.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to be in default when:

= the barower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Seres Trust in full,
withaut recourse by the Series Trust to actions such as realising security {if any is
haid); or

- 1he financial asset is more than 80 days past due.

The Seres Trust conslders a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit

rating of the counterparly is equivalent to the globally understood definition of

‘investment grade’. The Series Trust considers this o be Baa3 or higher per Moody's

or BBE- or higher per Standard & Foor's.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible dafault events ower the
expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLS that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months afier the reporfing date (or a shorter peried if the expected life of
the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum pericd considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Series Trust is exposed to cradit risk.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
Measuremant of ECLs

ECLz are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows
due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Series
Trust expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the
financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets camied at
amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or
more events that have a defrimental impact an the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidenca that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following obsarvable
data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
- & breach of confract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or

- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruplcy or other financial
recrganisation.

Prosentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the
gross camying amaunt aof the assets,

Wirite-off

The gross camying amount of a financial assot is written off when the Seres Trust has
no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a partion
thereof,

(B) Policy applicable prior fo 1 July 2018

Financial assets that are stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end of the
reporiing pericd to determing whether there s objective evidence of impairment. If any
such indication exists, an impairment loss s recognised in profit or loss as the
difference between lhe asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss recognised on a financlal
asset carried at amortised cost decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively
to an event occurring aftar the write-down, the write-down is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the assel's carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in pricr years,
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2  Significant accounting policies (confinued)
(v} Derecognition

A financial asset s derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or where the financial asset tagether with substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred,

A financial liability is derecognised when the ochligation specified in the contracl is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

(viy Structured entities

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not
the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate
to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual
arrangements.

A structured entity often has some or all of the following features or attributes:
- Restricted activities;

- A narrow and well-defined objective, such as to provide investment opporfunities for
investars by passing on nisks and rewards associated with the asssts of the structured
entity to investors;

- Insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance s activities without
subordinated financial support; and

- Financing in the form of multipla contractually linked instruments to investors that create
concentrations of cradit or other risks (tranches),

Management has determined that the Series Trust's investment in the Investment Fund (see
note S{al) is an investment in an unconsolidated structured entity and is classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see note 4). The Investment Fund's
investment objective is to maximise fotal investment return consisting of a combination of
interest income, capital appreciation and currency gains. The Investment Fund is managed
by an unrelated asset manager and applies varous investment strategies to accomplish its
investment objectives.

The Investmant Fund invests principally in a portfollo of fixed or fleating debt securities and
deblt obligations issued by govemment or government-related issuers worldwide, The
Investment Fund can invest to a lesser extent in debt securities of any quality issued by
corporations located in any country and debt securities of supranational enfities. The
Investment Fund can use derivatives for hedging and investment purposes which are used
as an active invesiment management instrument to gain exposure to markets. The
Investment Fund finances its operations by izsuing redeemable shares which are puttable at
haldes's option on any Luxembourg business day, and entitles the holder to 2 proportional
stake in the Investment Fund's net assets. The Series Trust holds redeemable shares in the
Investment Fund and is not sponsoring the Investment Fund. As at 30 June 2018, the Saries
Trust held 0.10% (2018: 0,10%) of the net assets of the [nvestment Fund.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

The Series Trust's holdings in the Investmant Fund are subject to the terms and condition of
the respective offering documentation and are susceptible to market price risk arising from
uncertainties about future valugs of the Investment Fund. The Manager makes investment
decision after extensive due diligence of the Investment Fund including consideration of its
strategy and the overall quality of the Investment Fund's manager.

The change in fair value of the Investment Fund is included in the statemant of
comprehensive incoma under “MNet gainf{loss) en financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss”™.

(vii} Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Series Trust has a legal right to
offset the amounts and it infends to either settle en a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

{f} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within thres manths of

maturity at acquisition,

(g) Interest income
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the original effective
interest rate of the instruments calculated at the acquisition or orgination date. Interest
income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, transaction costs or other

differences bebween the initial carrying amount of an Interest-bearing instrument and its
amount at maturity calculated an an effective interest rate basis.

It is recorded gross of withholding tax imposed in the country of origin and such tax is
separately recognised in profit or loss, if any,
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2  Significant accounting policles (continued)

fh) Net gain or loss an financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Met gain ar loss an financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all
realised and unrealised fair value changes and fereign exchange differences, but excludes
interest income.

{i} Expenses
All expenses of the Series Trust are recognised in profit or oss on an accrual basis.

(ft Income tax
Cavman (sfands
Under the curmant taxation regime in the Cayman |slands, the Series Trust is exempt from
paying taxes on income, profits or capital gains. The Trust has raceived an undertaking frem
the Governor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands exempting it from tax for a period of 50 years
from the date of the creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is
included in these financial statements.
Hang Komng
The Series Trust is not expected to be subject to Hong Kong tax in respect of any of its
investment activities.

(k) Realisation of units by the unitholder

The unitholder may realise units on any day on which commercial banks are open for
business in each of Hong Kong, Luxembourg, New York and Tokyo, andfor any other day or
days designabed in writing by the Manager from time to time (the "Repurchase Day™. Units
will be realised at the net asset value per unit on the relevant Repurchase Day, a price which
is calculated by reference to the net asset value of the Seres Trust as at the applicable
Repurchase Day.
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Significant accounting policies {continued)
Units in issue

The Series Trust classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity
instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.

A puttable financial instrument that includes a confractual obligation for the issuer o
repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or ancther financial asset is classified as
eguity if it mests all of the following conditions:

(it it entitles the holder to 2 pro rata share of the Series Trust's net aszats in the event of
the Series Trust's liquidation;

(i} itisinthe class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

{iif) al financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other
classes of instruments have identical features;

{iv) apart from the contractual obligation for the Series Trust to repurchase or redeem the
instrument for cash or another financial assel, the instrument does not include any
other features that would require classification as a liability; and

v the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based
substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the
change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Series
Trust over the life of the instrument.

The redeemable units of the Series Trust are classifised as financial liabilities and are
measured at the present value of the redemption amounts.

The Series Trust has three classes of redeemable units in issue: AUD Hedged, EUR Hedged
and USD elasses that are the most subordinate classes of financial ingtruments and rank pari
passu in all material respects and have the same terms and conditions other than that the
different classes of units are denominated in different currencies (the “Reference
Currencies”). The redeemable units provide the unitholder with the rght to reguire
redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the unitholder's share in the nat assets of the
applicable class of units of the Series Trust at the redemption date, and alsa in the event of
the Series Trust's liquidation,
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2 Significant accounting policies {continued)
{m) Related partias

{a) A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Sedes Trust if that
person;

(i has control or joint control over the Series Trust;
(i)  has significant influence over the Seres Trust; or

{lif) is a member of the key management personnel of the Series Trust or the Seres
Trust's parent.

(b}  An entity is related to the Series Trust if any of the following conditions applies:

(i  The entity and the Series Trust are members of the same group (which means
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a Seres Trust of which the other entity s a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(v} One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity,

(v} The entity is a post-emplayment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Series Trust or an enlity related to the Series Trust,

{uiy The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in {a)

(vii} A person identified in (a}i) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

(viii) The enlity, or any member of a group of which it is a party, provides key
managaement personnel services tfo the Series Trust or fo the Seres Trusts
parent,

Cloza members of the family of 2 person are those family members who may be expected ta
influence, or be influenced by, that parson in their dealings with the Serias Trust.
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Cash and cash equivalents

2078 2018

Current deposits with a bank & 388,590 7 145,622

Cash held by the Series Trust is depesited with Cilibank N.A. Hong Kaong Branch.
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

2019 2018
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Mon-derivative financial instrumeants:
- Unlisted open-ended investment in Templeton Global
Bond Fund % 14,539,053 § 15,384,305

Derivative financlal instruments:
- Foreign currency forward contracls 38,144 4,248

$ 14,578,197  § 15,368,643

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward contracts $ - $ (4,885)

Amounts due to brokers

The balance represents the amounts payable to the brokers for unsettled purchases and is
expected to be settied within one month.

Redempfion payable

The balance represents the amounts payable to the unitholder for redeemed units and is
expacted to be settied within one month,

Interest income calculated using the effective interast method
2079 2018

Interest income an bank balances £ 750 -] 815
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8 Net gain/{loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

201% 2018

MNon-derivative financial instrurments:
- Unlisted open-ended invesiment in Templeton Global

Bond Fund $ 934657 $  (2365666)
Derivative financial instruments:
- Forelgn currency forward contracts (242,792) {76.,862)

% 601,885 3 (313,328)

Representing:
Met realised (loss)/igain -] (955300 § 2369577
Met unrealised gaini(loss) 787,385 (682,805)

$ 691,885 § (313,328)

g Financial instruments and associated risks

The Series Trust's investing activities expose it to various types of financlal risks that are
associated with the financial instruments and markets in which it invests according to the
invesiment strategy. The risks that the Series Trust is exposed to are risks of the fund-of-fund
structure, risks of the underlying fund and risks of the Series Trust which include market risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Market risk includes interest rate risk, currancy risk and price risk.

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
pericd and thelr associated financial risks, as well as the risk management policies employed
by the Series Trust are discussed below,

{a) Investment strategy

As mentioned in note 1, the investment objective of the Series Trust is to maximise total
investment return consisting of @ combination of interest income, capital appreciation and
currency gains, The Serfes Trust seeks to achieve this investment cbiective through mainty
investing in the Investmeant Fund.

The Investment Fund is an unlisted open-ended fund. It is a sub-fund of Frankiin Templeton
Investment Funds, a company incorporated in Luxembourg under the laws of the Grand
Duchy of Luxembourg as a société anonyme and qualitying as a société dinvestissement a
capital variable. Franklin Templeton Invesiment Funds qualifies as an Undertakings for
Collective Investment in Transferable Securities.

The Investment Fund is managed by Franklin Advisers, Inc. (the ‘“lnvestrent Fund
Manager”}, who provides day-to-day management in respect of the investment and re-
invasiment of the net assets of the Investment Fund. The Investment Fund Manager receivas
investiment management fee from Franklin Templeton Investment Funds, the umbrella fund
of the Investmeant Fund.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The Investrment Fund’s investment objective is to maximise total invastment returm consisting
of a combination of interest income, capital appreciation and currency gains. It seeks to
achieve lts objeclive by investing principally in a portfolic of fixed and floating rate debt
securities (including non-investment grade securities) and debt obligations Issued by
government or government-related issuers worldwide,

The Investment Fund uses derivatives for hedging and investment purposes which are used
as an active investment management instrument to gain exposura to markets,

The Investment Fund’s functional currency is USD. The Manager of the Series Trust also
systematically hedges the foreign currency exposure of the AUD Hedged unite and EUR
Hedged units of the Series Trust between their Reference Currencies (i.e.,, AUD for AUD
Hedged units and EUR for EUR Hedged units, hereinafter the same) and the functional
currency of the Serdes Trust by entering inta foreign currency forward confracts of maturities
of around one month (the "Curmency Hedging Transactions”),

A certain portion of the Series Trust's assets is retained as cash, taking into considaration
the day-to-day cash needs of the Series Trust as they arise.

{b) Risks of the fund-of-fund structure

The Saeries Trust invasts substantially all of its proceeds from the issuance of units into the
Investment Fund and operates in a fund-of-fund structure.

The fund-of-fund structure gives rise to a unique risk that muttiple parties invest in the
Investment Fund alongside the Series Trust, whose units may not rank pari passu, lowering
the investment retums. Should a major investor withdraw from the Investment Fund, the
investors thal remain may take up a greater proportion of the operating expenses.
Furthermore, a substanfial withdrawal of capital by the investors within a short time period
could necessitate the liguidation of security positions at a time and in a manner which doas
not provide the most economic advantage to the Investment Fund, and which can advaersely
affect the value of the Investment Fund's sssels.

The Series Trust achieves its investment ebjactive through it investment in the Investmeant
Fund, Whether the investment objective can be achieved depends on the performance of
the Investment Fund's financial instruments and the continuing availability of the Investment
Fund, as well as the business continuity of the Investment Fund Manager.

The Series Trust is under a fund-of-fund structure and has not been established as a tracker
fund. The performance of the Series Trust can differ from that of the Investment Fund.
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3  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
{c) Risks of the Investment Fund

Under the fund-of-fund structure, the Series Trust has an indirect exposure to the risks of the
Investmant Fund and loss incurred by the Investment Fund can adversely affect the Series
Trust's financial position, The Investment Fund is the underdying fund of the Series Trust and
is exposed to the following key risks which are monitored by the Investment Fund Manager.
The Series Trust is indirectly exposed to them.

iy  Credi risk of the Investment Fund
Credit risk of the Investment Fund arises when an issuer of the bond securities held by the
Investmant Fund defaults and fails to make principal or interest payments on due date. The

Investment Fund Manager has procedures in place to identify, measure, monitor and control
credit risk.

The transacticns in securitlies are settied or paid for upon delivery through approved and
reputable brokers and outstanding balances are closaly monitored.

The bond securities invested by the Investment Fund are of sound credit ratings and their
credit qualities are assessed based on the nature of the issuers and historical default rates.

(i} Currency rigk of the Investment Fund

Currency risk arises from the effects of exchange rate fluctuations batwean the Investment
Fund's functional currency and currency in which its financial instruments are denominated.

(iiiy  Liquidity risk of the Investment Fund
Liquidity risk arizes when the Investiment Fund Manager is not able o generate sufficient
cash to settie its obligations as they fall due. A majar liquidity risk is the ongoing redemption
of the Investment Fund’s units.

(i} [nterast rate risk of the Investmeant Fund
Interest rate risk arises from the affects of fluctuations In prevalling market inferest rates on
which the fair value of Investment Fund's financial instruments and future cash flows are

based. The Investment Fund Manager monitors the risk by quantifying its exposure in
duration terms.

{v) Derivative risk of the Investment Fund
Cerivafive risk arises from derivative contracts undertaken by the Investment Fund for
hedging and investment purposes. Derivative contracts ara high leverage investments and
their value is determined by fluctuation in the underlying assets. Derivative confracts add to
the liquidity, credit and counterparty risk of the Investment Fund.

The Series Trust's maximum exposure to its investment in the Investment Fund is the falr
value of its investment in the Investment Fund.

k]
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
{d) Market risk of the Serias Trust

All investments held by the Series Trust are measured at fair value through prefit or loss, and
all changes in market conditions directly affect profit or loss. Market risk is the risk that the
value of the investments will fluctuate as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates
ar prices.

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the future
cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments and therefore result in a potential gain or
loss fo the Series Trust. The Seres Trust's interest rate risk is managed on an on-going
basis by the Manager. Except for bank deposits, all the financial assets and liabilities of the
Series Trust are non-interest bearing.

(f} Currency risk

The Serles Trust may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions denominated
in currencies other than ifs functional currency. Consequently, the Serdes Trust Is exposed to
risks that the exchange rate of its functional currency relative to other foreign currencies may
change in @ manner that has an adverse effect on the value of that portion of the Series
Trust's financial agsets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than the USD.

The fluctuations in the rate of exchange betwaen the curency In which the asset or lability is
denominated and functional currency could result in an appreciation or depreciation in the
fair value of that asset or liability. Currency exposures between the Reference Currencies
and the functional currency of the Series Trust are present for the AUD Hedged and EUR
Hedged classes. Cumency Hedging Transactions are entered inta by the Manager according
to a hedge ratio with certain residual risks. Furthermors, as a result of the Currency Hedging
Transactions, an appreciation In a Reference Currency against the functional currency does
not lead to a corresponding increasa in the net asset value per unit of the hedged classes.

3z
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8  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

Currancy sensitivily

As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2018, had the USD weakened by 5% (2018: 5%) in relation
to the respective curmrencies, with all other variables held constant, the fair value of the
foreign currency forward contract would have increased by the amounts shown below.

Changes in fair Changes in fair

value of the valug of the

foreign foraign

CLITENCY currency

forward forward

Notional  contract if USD Nolional  contract if USD

amount af weakened amount at weakenad

(Expressed in US0D) 30 Juna 2079 by 5% 30 June 20718 by 5%
Australian Doliar & 3133318 % 156836 5 2411654 3§ 121,548
Euro arz2 0z 43,721 1,200,820 60,731
Taotal F 4005420 3% 200567 % 3612474 & 182,279

A 5% (2018: 5%) strengthening of the USD against the above currencies would have
rasuited in an equal but opposite effect on the financial statement amounts shown above, on
the basis that all other variables remain constant.

(i) Price fsk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market pricas, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investrment, its
issuer or all factors affecting all instruments fraded in the market.

Pri ity

The assets of the Series Trust are substantially invested in the Investment Fund and
therefore are exposed to the price risk of the Investment Fund. It Is eslimated that a 5%
{2018: 5%) decrease in the quoted price of the Investment Fund would result in a decrease
in the net assels attributable to the unitholder and the total comprehensive income for the
year by 726,953 (2018: $768,220); an equal change in the opposite direction would result in
an increase in tha net assets attributable to unithalder by an equal amount.,

3
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Credit risk of the Serfes Trust

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation or a commitment that it has entered into with the Seres Trust. The Series Trust's
exposure to credit risk is monitored by the Manager on an ongeing basis.

Amournts arsing from ECL

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a3 12-month expected loss
basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. All the cash held by the Series Trust
is deposited with Cilibank M.A. Hong Kong Branch which is also the Administrator and the
Custodian, The Manager considers that these exposures have fow credit risk.

On the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, the Manager considers the probability of default
to be close to zerc as the counterparties have a strong capacity to meet thelr contractual
obligations in the naar term. There i no impairment allowance recognised on cash and cash
equivalents. The amount of the loss allowance did not change during 2019,

The Series Trust is exposed to credit risk with respect to the Cuslodian taking custody of the
Series Trusts cash and cash equivalents balances and to the counterparty of the foreign
currency forward contracts under the Currency Hedging Transactions.

All the cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank N.A. Hong Kong Branch
which is also the Administrator and the Custodian, The Manager considers the credit risk of
the bank to be low.

The Currency Hedging Transactions expose the unitholder of the AUD and EUR Hedged
classes to counterparty risks., The Currency Hedging Transactions were entered into with
Citigroup Global Markets Japan Inc., an affiliate of the Manager,

As at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018, most of the Series Trust's financial assets were
gllocated to the Investment Fund and the investment manager is Franklin Advisers, Inc.

The Series Trust is indirectly exposed to credit risk through its investment in the Investment
Fund.

The table below sets out credit ratings provided by Standard & Poor's rating services for the
holding company of the Investmeant Fund Manager:

2019 2018

Credif raling Credit rafing

by Standard by Standard

& Poor's & Poor's

Franklin Resources, Inc. A+ A+
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Liquidify risk of the Series Trust

Liquidity risk arisas from the risk that the Manager may not be able to convert investments
into cash to meet liquidity needs in a timely manner. The Series Trust is exposed to liquidity
risk on redemption of units by the unitholder on the redemption date,

The unitholder may realise units on any Repurchase Day., Under nomal market condition,
the Manager will liquidate the Series Trust's investmants in the Investment Fund to meet the
redemption obligation. Any amount payable to the unitholder in respeact of the realisation of
units shall normally be paid within eight fund business days following the relevant
Repurchase Day as defined in note 2({k).

Analysis of abiity by remaining maturily

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Series Trust's liabilities
as at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018:

At 2018
Chvar Owear
Repayable Wit 1 manth to 3 manths
on dermand 1 month 3 mornths to 1 vear Todal
HNon-trading liabilities
Accruals and other
payables 3 - § 49872 § 10035 § - % B85S0V
Amounts due o brokers - 180,000 - - 150,000
Redemption payable - 24 384 - - 24,364
MNat assets attributable to
the unitholder 14,732 525 - - = 14,732,525
Taotal 514732626 § 224235 3 10,035 5 - 314,965,796
2018
Owver Over
Repayable Witfnirr 1 mrarth (o 3 manths
ot demarad 1 mantf 3 months to 1 year Tatal
Non-trading Habilities
Accruals and other
payables 5 - §& 5o042 5 5035 % = 5 B407T7
Redemption payabla - 129,141 - - 124 144
MNet assels attributable to
tha unitholdar 15,316,162 - - - 15316182
Total $15316162 § 188,183 3 5035 § - $15509,380
Trading liabilittes
Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss $ - % 4885 § - % - & 4,685
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Fair values
Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Seres Trust's financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined In HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, The lavel into
which a fair value measurement s classified is determined with reference to the ebsarvabliity
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technigue as follows:

= Leval 1 valuaticns: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for idenfical assats or liabiflities at the measurement date

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured uging Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobsanvable
inputs are inputs for which market data are not available

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

2019
Lavel 1 Level 2 Lavel 3 Todal

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Men-dervativa financkal
instrumeants:
- Unlisted open-ended investment
in Templeton Global Bond
Fund ] - 514538053 % - $14539,053

Darivative financial Instruments:
= Foralgn currency forward
contracts - 39,144 - 39,144

¥ - %14,578187 % - $14,578,197

38

140/266



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Tampleiov Glabal Bond Fund Fonsign Currancy Somes «
o saries rusl of Red A Global fnvesimenis (Capman) Trest
Fivantial slalamends for lhe year svded 30 June 2019

Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

2018
Lovel 1 Lovel 2 Level 3 Tolal

Financlal assets at fair valua
through profit or loss

Men-derivative financial
instruments:
= Unlisted cpen-ended investment
in Templeton Glabal Bond
Fund ] - §15364305 5 = 515,364,395

Derivative financial instruments:
= Foreign currency forward
contracts - 4,248 - 4248

5 - $15368,B43 3 - §15368.643

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments:
= Foreign currency forward
contracts 3 - ¥ (4,885) 3 - % (4,885)

During the year ended 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018, there were no transfers among
instruments in Lavel 1, Level 2 and Level 3,

ar

141/266



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Tampletcn Giobal Bond Fund Forsign Currency Series «
i sariag trust of Red Are Globaf inveatmants [Copmnan) Trusf
Financi! slatersents for ihe year ended 30 Juns 2016

Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Financial instruments carried at other than fair value

The financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-term
financial instruments whaose carrying amounts approximate fair value.,

The following table sets aut the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair valus
and analyses it by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which that fair value measurement

is categorised.
2019
Level 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Tolal

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 - $ 383588 3 - & 388539
Financial liabilities
Accruals and other payables 5 - 3 (59.9307) % - § (59807
Amounts due to brokers - {150,000) - {150,000)
Redemplion payable - (24.364) - (24,364)
Met assels aliributable to the

unitholder - [14,732.525) = {14,732,525)

i - $(14965798) 3 = §{14,966,786)
2018
Level 1 Lowvel 2 Lawal 3 Total

Financial assefs
Cash and cagh equivalents § - % 145822 35 - % 145822
Financial liabilities
Accruals and other payables § - §  (B407TT) S - & [B4,077)
Redamption payabla - {128,141} - {128,141}
Mat assets attributable to the

unitholder - (15,318,182) - {15316,152)

& - $(15509380) % - $(15,508,380)

]
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
(i) Foreign currency forward contracts
The foreign currency forward contracts were outstanding as follows:
2019

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Currency Currancy Currancy Currency Selllernen!

bought  ameount bought sl armount solfd date Fair valie
AUD 4477128 uso 3101034 31 July 2018 % 35,696
EUR 766,953 s 870,965 31 July 2019 3448
2078

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Currency Currancy Currency Curmency Settlament
bought  amount bought sold  amount sofd dale Fair value
EUR 1,037,147 uUsD 1,210,376 31 Juy 2018 § 4,248

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Currency Currancy Currency Currency Setttement
bought  amount bough! sold amount sofd dale Fair value
AUD 3,282,830 usD 2435853  31July2018 $ {4,885)

]
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

Foreign currency forward contracts are commitments either to purchase or sell a designated
currency at a specified future date for a specified price and settled in cash. The contracts
ara customised over-the-counter, These contracts were entered into to hedge foreign
currency exposure of the Series Trust.

Foreign curmency forward contracts result in exposure to market risk based on changes in
market prices relative to contracted amounts. Market risks arise due to the possible
maovement in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, because of the low margin
deposits normally required in relation to national contract sizes, a high degree of leverage
may be typical of a forward trading account. As a result, a relatively small price movement in
an underlying of a forward contract may result in substantial losses to the Series Trust,

Motional amounts are the underlying reference amounts to foreign currencies upon which the
fair value of the forward contracts traded by the Series Trust are based. While noticnal
amounts do not represent the current fair value and are not necessarlly indicative of the
future cash flows of the Series Trust's foreign curmency forward contracts, the underlying
price changes In refation to the variables specified by the notional amounts affect the fair
value of these dervative financial instruments.

The Series Trust transacts in foreign currency forward coniracts for the account of holdars of
the AUD Hedged and EUR Hedged classes of units, in principle. by selling USD and
purchasging the Refarence Currencies. As a rasult of the Currency Hedging Transactions, an
appreciation in AUD or EUR against the USD as applicable will not lead to a coresponding
increase in the net asset value per unit of the AUD Hedged or EUR Hedged classes of units,
All gains and losses arising from these transactions are to the account of the respective AUD
Hedged and EUR Hedged classes of units.

The counterparty of these contracts is a fellow subsidiary of the Manager, which is a
reputabla financial instituion, hence the risk of default is considered low.
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10 Net assets attributable to the unitholder

Number of unils
2019
AUD EUR s
Hadged class Hedged ciass class
320,351 111,351 1,183,269
133,470 315 72941
{34,144) (30,477} (218,967}
419677 81,189 1,037,243
Number af units
2018
AUD EUR LsD
Hedged class Headged class class
394,116 136,265 1,634,183
18,401 3,367 46,248
(82,166) (28,281) (497,162}
320,351 111,351 1,183,269

As at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018, all units issued by the Seres Trust were classified as
financial liabilties. The only unitholder of the Series Trust is SMBC Trust Bank Lid. The

unitholder is the Distributor,

Tha initial offering of all three classes of units were priced at a unit price of 10 currency unit
of their respective Reference Currency, Units may be redeemed an the redemption date and
also in the event of the Series Trust's liquidation at the net asset value per unit of the
applicable class of units on the relevant redemption date with no redemption charge,

In meetings of unitholders for any resolution to be proposed, individual unitholder present in
person, by proxy or by representative, has one vote for every unit of which he is the holder.
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10 Net assets attributable to the unitholder (continued)

The Trust and the Series Trust do not have any externally imposed capital requirements. As
at 30 June 2019, the Series Trust had net assets attributable to the unitholder of $14,732, 525
{2018: $15,316,162). The Seres Trust slrives to invest the funds received from the issue of
units in investments that meet the Series Trust's investment objective while maintaining
sufficient liquidity to meet the funding needs when the unitholder redeems its units.

The unitholder of the Series Trust cannct switeh its units into units of any other series trust of
the Trust.

The Serles Trust does not intend to pay dividends or other distributions for the year anded 30
June 20158 and 30 Juna 2018,

{b) Reconciliation of net assels

In sccordance with the Series Trusts offering memorandum, the net assets of the Series
Trust are computed using the pre-determined cut-off time for all transactions. Transactions
after the offering memorandum based cut-off time are recorded the next day. Under the
HKFRSs requirements, these transactions are recorded on the same day to comply with
recagnition and derecognition criteria for the financial instruments. This approach creates a
timing difference between the HKFRSs net assets and units issued and the offering
memaorandum net assets and units issued, Preliminary expenses are amorised over a period
of not more than 5 years from date of closing in aceardance with the offering memerandum,
However, for financial reparting purposes under HKFRSs, all expenses should be recognised
in profit or loss when they are incurred,
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10 Met assets attributable to the unitholder (continued)

A reconciliation of the net assets between the amaunts computed for valuation purposes and
the amounts computed in accordance with HKFR Sz as reported is as follows:

2019
AU ELIR
Hadged Hedged usp
GClass class class Total

Met assels attributable to the

unitholder for valuation
€ 3123877 § 873445 S10,731,974 514729208

purposes
Adjustment for timing

difference 685 191 2,353 3,220
Adjustment for praliminary
expenses - - - -
Met assels atfributable 1o the
unitholder as reported in the
financial statements $ 3124562 5 BTI6IE 10,734,327 514732525
2018
ALD EUR
Hedgad Headgod usn
Class class class Total
Met assets attributable to the
unitholder for valuation
pUrposes § 2422102 $ 1,205,047 $11,725170 $15352.319
Adjustrment for timing
difference (5,713) {2,843) (27,658) (36.214)
Adjustrent for preliminary
expenses 9 4 44 57

Net assets attributable to the
Unitholder as reported in the
financial statements $ 2416,398 § 1202208 %11,697556 $15316162
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10 MNet assetls attributable to the unithelder (continued)

A reconciliation of the number of units between the numbers used for valuation purposes and

the numbers recorded in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

209
AUD EUR Usn
Hedged class Hedged class closs
Unmits issued for valuation purpose 419,677 81,189 1,037,243
Adjustment for timing difference - - -
Units issued as reported in the
financial statements 419,677 81,189 1,037,243
2018
ALD EUR usp
Hedged class Hadged class class
Units issued for valuation purpose 320,351 111,351 1,183,269
Adjustrment for timing differance = - :
Uinits issued as reparted in the
financial statements 320,351 111,351 1,183,269
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11 Related parties

Charges and expenses from related parties in respect of sarvices provided to the Seres
Trust are as follows:

Management fee: The Manager is entitted to a management fee of
0,16% per annum of the net asset value of the Series
Trust. The fee is accrued daily and payable monthly
in arears.

Trustes fea: The Trustee charges a fee of USD10,000 per annum.
The fae is accrued daily and payable guarterly in
arrears.

Administrator, transfer agent and The Administratar is entited to a combined fee of up
custodian fees: to 0.08% per annum of the net asset value of the
Series Trust. The fee is accrued daily and payabie

menthly in arrears.

Distributor fee: The Distributor charges a fee up to 0.75% per annum
of the net asset value of the Series Trust per unit for
aach unit that the Distributor is the registered holder,
The fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in
arrears.

Agent company fee: The agent company charges a fee up to 0.01% per
annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust, The
fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in amrears.

Senvice provider fee: The service provider is entitied to receive a fee of up
to 0.08% per annum of the per unit net asset value of
the Series Trust for each unit that SMBC Trust Bank
Limited is the registerad holder in its capacity as a
distributor, or distributers in Japan as may be
appointed by the Manager from tims to tima. The faa
ks calculated and accrued daily and payable manthly

in arrears.
Financial statements The Administrator is entitled to a financial statements
preparation fee; preparation fee of USDB,000 per annum. The

financial statements preparation fee charged for the
year amounted fo USDB,043 (2018: USD7.979).
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11 Related parties (continued)

The following summarisas the significant related party transactions of the Sarias Trust:

2019 2018
Expenses Payables Expenses Fayables
Management fee 3 23358 § 4138 5 29678 % 4,486
Trustee fea 10,250 10,035 10,750 5,035
Administrator, transfer agent
and custodian fees 8,759 6,131 11,129 6,236
Distributor fee 108,450 B.523 138,115 8,603
Agent company fee 1,460 119 1.855 128
Service provider fee 11,678 852 14,839 1.024
Financial statements
preparation fes 8,043 793 7,879 8,745

Tha Series Trust utilises the banking services of the Adminlstratar in the ordinary course of
their banking and securities custodian business. Information relating to the cash and cash
equivalents, and investmeant balance is disclesed in notes 3 and 4 respectively. During the
year ended 30 June 2019, the interest income eamed from the bank balances maintained
with the Administrator amounted to USDT50 (2018: USDA15).

The counterparty to the foreign currency forward contracts is a fellow subsidiary of the
Manager. Information relating to the forelgn currency forward contracts is disclosed in note

B{g)iii).
12 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimation of fair values

The fair values of financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss are
derived by valuation models using current market parameters as describad in note 2(e)(iii).
Fair value estimates are made at a specified point in time, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be
determined with precision., Newvertheless, fair values can be reliably determined within a
reasonable range of estimates.
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Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2019
and which have not been adopted in thesa financial statements. These include the following
which may be relevant to the Series Trust:

Effactiva for

accounting penods

beginning on or after

HE{IFRIC) 23, Uncertainty over income lax lreafments 1 January 2018
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle 1 January 2019

The Series Trust is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standard and interpretations is expected 1o be in the period of initial
application. So far the Series Trust has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Series Trust's results of operations and finanelal pesition,
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Supplementary information (unaudited)

Performance table
(Expressed in United States dollars)

2019 2018

Total net asset value (calculated In accardance with

the Offering Memaorandum) F 14,729,205 $ 15352319
Met assel valua par unit (calculated in accordance with

Offering Memorandum)
- AUD Hedged class AUD 10636 AUD 10,292
- EUR Hedged class EUR 9461 EUR 9347
- UsD class WsSD 10347 UsD 9909
Price record (calculated in accordance with Offering

Memaorandum)
- Highest unit net asset value during the year

- AUD Hedged class AUD 10618 AUD 10818

- EUR Hedged class EUR 9.5893 EUR 10.059

- USD class Ush 10.470 UsD 1ﬂ3&_§
- Lowest unit net asset value during the year

- AUD Hedged class AUD 10.098 AUD 10235

- EUR Hedged class EUR 9375 EUR 9.308

- UsSD class usp  9.679 uUsh 9844
Met investment return during the year
- AUD Hedged class 3.34% -3.35%
- EUR Hedged class 1.22% -5.65%
- USD class 4.42% =3.10%

The net investment returns for 2019 and 2018 was calculated by reference to the difference
between the net asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with the Offering
Memorandum) of the Series Trust at year end date and year beginning date price, divided by
the year beginning date price to obtain the return in percantage.
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2019 10

)

)

12,903,316.18

1,404,913,066

97,999.99

10,670,239

12,805,316.19

1,394,242,827

921,162.193

403,050.180

79,187.229
9.976 1,086
10.186 767
9.019 1,095
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2018 12 31
2017 2017
2018 2018
) )
57,356,942 796,687,924 57,031,983 792,174,244
1,322,752 18,373,025 326,657 4,537,266
(38,636,726) (536,664,124) (40,856,730) (567,499,980)
20,042,968 278,396,826 16,501,910 229,211,530
(2,814,830) (39,097,989) (2,664,746) (37,013,322)
17,228,138 239,298,837 13,837,164 192,198,208
17,228,138 239,298,837 13,837,164 192,198,208
15
©
)
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2018 12 31
2018 12 31
( )
2017 2017
2018 2018
) )
© 22,749 315,984 26,278 365,001
253,284,299 3,518,118,913 221,656,523  3,078,809,104
132,034 1,833,952 243,742 3,385,576
7,366,339 102,318,449 12,156,238 168,850,146
260,782,672 3,622,271,314 234,056,503 3,251,044 ,827
10 4,060,446 56,399,595 4,436,670 61,625,346
19,665,036 273,147,350 9,848,223 136,791,817
© 881,075 12,238,132 826,688 11,482,696
24,606,557 341,785,077 15,111,581 209,899,860
236,176,115 3,280,486,237 218,944,922 3,041,144,967
236,198,864 3,280,802,221 218,971,200 3,041,509,968
11(a) 2,000,200 27,782,778 2,000,200 27,782,778
234,198,664 3,253,019, 443 216,971,000  3,013,727,190
236,198,864 3,280,802, 221 218,971,200  3,041,509,968
2019 29

)

)

)

)

)

2018 15
©
11 37 ( )
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2018 12 31
2018 12 31

( )
2017 2,000,200 203,133,836 205,134,036
13,837,164 13,837,164
2017 12 31 () 2,000,200 216,971,000 218,971,200
474) 474)
2018 2,000,200 216,970,526 218,970,726
17,228,138 17,228,138
2018 12 31 2,000,200 234,198,664 236,198,864
2017 27,782,778 2,821,528,982 2,849,311,760
192,198,208 192,198,208
2017 12 31 () 27,782,778 3,013,727,190 3,041,509,968
(6,584) (6,584)
2018 27,782,778 3,013,720,606 3,041,503,384
239,298,837 239,298,837
2018 12 31 27,782,778 3,253,019,443 3,280,802,221

2018 15
©
11 37 ( )
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2018 12 31
2018 12 31
(
2017 2017
2018 2018
) )
20,042,968 278,396,826 16,501,910 229,211,530
(1,477,579) (20,523,572) (19,417) (269,702)
18,565,389 257,873,253 16,482,493 228,941,828
111,708 1,551,624 1,938,468 26,925,321
¢ ) 4,789,899 66,531,697 (2,504,384) (34,785,894)
(376,224) (5,225,751) (2,199, 565) (30,551,958)
¢ ) 9,816,813 136,355,533 (210,671) (2,926,220)
32,907,585 457,086,356 13,506,341 187,603,076
(2,756,914) (38,293,535) (1,314,085) (18,252,641)
30,150,671 418,792,820 12,192,256 169,350,436
1,477,579 20,523,572 19,417 269,702
1,477,579 20,523,572 19,417 269,702
31,628,250 439,316,393 12,211,673 169,620,138
221,656,049 3,078,802,521 209,444,850 2,909,188,967
1231 253,284,299 3,518,118,913 221,656,523 3,078,809, 104
15
©
11 )
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2018 2017
57,356,942 57,031,983
57,356,942 57,031,983

13

2018 2017
1,477,579 19,417
(154,827) 307,240
1,322,752 326,657

2018 2017
19,628,027 22,258,411
3,318,662
6,636,458 5,593,203
10,790,292 6,654,747
468,148 460,648

13
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2018 2017
(274,006)
3,085,307 2,140,773
3,529 523,973
2,814,830 2,664,746

16.5 (2017  16.5 )

2018 2017
20,042,968 16,501,910
3,307,090 2,722,815
(218,254) (53,898)
(274,006)
(4,171)
2,814,830 2,664,746
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2018 2017
826,688
(2,756,914) (1,314,085)
(274,006)
3,085,307 2,140,773
881,075 826,688
2018 2017
26,278 550,251
(3,529) (523,973)
22,749 26,278
( )
2018 2017
8,664,708 8,678,496
14,381,096 7,426,755
1,830,923 1,613,482
758,100 740,100
25,634,827 18,458,833
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2018 2017
7,283,614 11,133,466
82,725 1,022,772
7,366,339 12,156,238

2018 2017
2,615,365 868,890
407,817
984,433 2,597,917
460,648 562,046
4,060,446 4,436,670

2,350,065 (2017 868,890 )
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12 31 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200
135
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2018 12 31

235,924,858 (2017 218,971,200 )
( )«

) 100,000
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2018 2017
711,629 2,857,720 8,149,638 777,226 4,933,923 5,532,086
132,034 208,146
7,047,878 293,661 1,151 4,817,498 7,331,260

(4,028,308) 428,510 (2,699,314) (1,276,708)

(11,820) (3,434,604)  (13,077,290) (1,881,922)  (7,966,301)
699,809 2,442,686 (4,073,447) 778,377 (2,699,314) 7,869,499 3,828,483
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2018 2017
() 57,356,942 57,031,983
) 3,318,662
() 3,290,514 3,514,503
(2008 12) (
)(2019 )
225 (2009 01) (
13 )
2009 02( / ) (
) (2019 18 )
( )( 12 )(2019
)
C X 14 )
C X 15 )
( 18 )
( 19 )
( 20 )
( 24 ) (2018
( 25 )
(
26 )
( 27 )
( 28 )
( 30 )
( 31 )
1703( 32 )
( 33 )
1710( 34 )
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16-12 ( 16-12 )
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Ciligrodm Firat fvesiment Management Limied
Financia! stalements for the year anded 31 Docember 2018

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(Exprassed in Hong Korg dollars)

Mote 2018 2017

(Note)
5 5

Tumnover 2 57,356,942 §7.031,983
Cither net gain 3 1,322,752 320,657
Ciher operating expenses (38,8386,726) {40,856 730)
Profit before taxation 4 20,042,968 16,501,810
Ircome tax 5(a) 12,814,830) (2,664, 748)
Profit for the year 17,228,138 13,837 164
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive Income for the year 17,228,138 13,837 184

Mole: Tha Company has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 at 1 January 2018.
Under the transifion methods chosen, comparative information is not restaled. Sese
note 1(c).

The notes on pages 11 lo 37 form part of these financial stalemants.
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Citlgraup Fies! imvastmen! Managamant Limiled
Financial slatements for the year endad 31 Decamber 2018

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018

{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
Nofe 2018 2007
{Mote)
§ 5
Mon-currant asset
Deferred tax assets 5(c) 22748 26,276
Currant assets
Cash and cash equivalents T 253,284,299 221,656,523
Amaounts due from fellow subsidiaries & 132,034 243,742
Accounts receivabla and other assats =] 7,366,339 12,156,238
280,782,672 234,058,503
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 10 4 080 446 4,436 670
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries B 18,665,036 8,848,223
Tax payables 5{c) 881,075 B26, 688
24 606 557 15,111,581
MNet current assets 236176,115 218,944 522
NET ASSETS 236,196,854 218,971,200
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 11(a) 2,000,200 2,000,200
Retained samings 234,198,664 216,971,000
TOTAL EQUITY 236,198 864 218,971,200

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 3 § APR 2010

)
]
)} Directors
)

Y JS"“‘f}

oyt ) -
Mote: The C anﬁa’rﬂ:'ﬂ Iy applied HRFRS 2 and HKFRS 15 at 1 January 2018,

Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See

note 1(c).

The notes on pages 11 to 37 form part of these {inancial statemeants.
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Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2018
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Balance at 1 January 2017

Total comprehensive incaome for
the year

Balance at 31 December 2017
(Note)

Impact on initial applicaticn
of HKFRS 9

Adjusted balance at 1 January
2018

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Balance at 31 December 2018

EDINETOOOO
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Ciigroum Firzt investmant Managemant Limfed

Financis! stalemenls for e yeer ended 31 Decembar 2018

Sharm Relained
capiral aamings Tatal
% 3 5
2,000,200 203,133,838 205,134,036
- 13,837,164 13,837,164
2,000,200 216,971,000 218,871,200
- (474) (474)
2,000,200 216,970,526 218,970,726
- 17,228,138 17,228,138
2,000,200 234,188 664 236,198 864

Mote: The Company has initially applied HKFRS 8 and HKFRS 15 at 1 January 2018.
Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See

note 1{c).

The notes on pages 11 to 37 farm part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressad in Hong Kong dollars)

Operating activities
Prafit before taxation

Adjustment for;
Interast income

Operating cashflow before changes in
working capital

Decrease in amounts dua from fallow
subsidiaries

Decreasef{increase) in accounts receivable and
other assets

Decrease in accounts payable and accruad
expanses

Increasef{decrease) in amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries

Net cash generated from operations

Heng Keng profits tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities
Investing activity

Interast recaived

Net cash generated from investing activity

Met increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Decembear

Cilsgrougp First rvesimand Ma

Ooooooooooooooooooad

Limited

Financia! stalaments for the year anded 31 Decombar 2018

Male

2018 2017

{Note)

) 3

20,042 968 16,501,810
(1.477.579) {19.417)
1B 565,389 18,482,493
111,708 1,938 468
4,789,809 (2,504,384)
{378,224) (2,199,565
9,816,813 {210,671)

32,907 585 13,508,341
(2,756,814) (1,314,085)
30,150,671 12,162,258

1,477,578 19,417
1,477,579 19,417
31,628 250 12,211,673
221,656,049 208,444,850

253,284 289

. SRR

Mote: The Company has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 at 1 January 2018,
Under the transition methods choesen, comparative information Is not restated. See

note 1(c).

The notes on pages 11 to 37 farm part of these financial statements.
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Citigroup Frsl invosimen! Managpamant Limflad
Financial stutarnants for the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statemenis have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hang Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSz"}, which collective termn includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
{"HKASs") and Inlerpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Ceniflad Public
Accountants "HKICPA™, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirernents of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company are disclosed below,

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Company, Note 1(c) provides
infarmation on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of thesa
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Company for the current and prior
accounting perods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measureament basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the histoncal
cost basis.

The Company has chosen Hong Kong dollars as its functional currency which reflects the
aconomic substance of the underlying assets and circumstances relevant to the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise indicated.

Thea praparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions thal affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumplions are basad on historical expearience and various other factars that are believed to
be reasonable undar the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying valuss of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
ather sources, Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Tha estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongeing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future perlods if the
revision affects both current and fulure pericds.

11
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Citgroup Fir! imeestmint Margerent Livnled
Finanaial sfafamenis for ihe paar snced 31 December 2074

Significant accounting policies {continued)
Changes In accounting policies

The HEICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and amendments to HKFRSs that are
first affective for the current aceounting period of the Company. Of these, the following
developments are relavant o the Company's financial statements:

iy HKFRS 9. Financial instruments
(il  HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customars
{if) HK{IFRIC) 22, Foreign currency transactions and advance considerstion

The Company has nat applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the cument accounting period, except for lhe amendments fo HKFRS 9, Prapayment fealures
with negative compensation which have been adopted at the same time as HKFRS 9.

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including the amendmants to HKFRS 8, Prepayment
fealures with negative compensation

HKFRS 9 replaces HRAS 38, Financial instrumeants. recognition and measurement. It sets
out the requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and
some contracts to buy or sall non-financial items.

The company has applied HKFRS 2 refrospectively to items that existed at 1 January 2018 in
accordance with the transhlon requirements. The Company has recognised the cumulative
effect of initial application as an adjustment to the cpaning aquity at 1 January 2018
Therefore, comparative information continues Lo be reperted under HKAS 38,

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous accounting palicies and
the transifion approach are set out below:

A Classification of financial assets and financial labilities

HKFRS 8 categorises financial assets into three principal classification categaries:
measured at amortised cost, at fair value hrough other comprehensive income
{"FWOCI) and at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"). Thesa supersede HKAS
3%'s categaries of haeld-to-maturity investmenls, loans and receivables, available-for-
sale financial assets and financial assets measured at FVTPL. The classification of
financial assets under HEFRS 9 is basad on the business modal under which the
financial asset is managed and its contraciual cash flow charactaristics. Under HKFRS
g, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of
the standard are not separated from the host. Instead, the hybrid insfrument as a
whole is assassad for classification.

12
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Cltigroup Fies! lnvesiman! Managemen! Limifisd
Fraarsisl sratamants for the yeer anded 31 December 2018

Significant accounting policies (continued)

The accounting for financial liabilities is largely be the same as the requirements of
HKAS 30 axcept for the treatment of gains or losses arising from an entity’s own credit
risk relating to liabilities designated at FVTPL. Such movements is presented in other
comprehensive income {"OCI") with no subsequent raclassification to the income
siatement, unless an accounting mismatch in profit or loss would arise.

The following table and the accompanying notes below explain the criginal
measurement categeries undar HKAS 38 and the new measurement categories under
HKFRS 2 for 2ach class of the Company's financial assets and financial liabilities as at
1 January 2018,

The effect of adopting HKFRS 2 on the carrying amounts of financial asseis at 1
January 2018 relates solely to the new impairment requirements.

Ougnnial New  Original carrying Iy cRrying

classificalion classiicolion amount under arnourn under

Ty B under HKAS 38 under HKFRS § HKAS 39 HKFRS 8

Financial assets

Amounts due frem Tellow Loans and

subsidiaries recaivablas Amarlised cost 243,742 243,742
Accounis receivable and Leans and

other azasts receivables Amortised cost 12,158,238 12,155,238
Loans and

Cash and cash equivalants recalvables Amodized cost 221,680,623 221,656,048

Total financial assats 234,055 503 234 056,029

Note: For an explanation of how the Company classifies and measures financial
assets and recognises related gains and iosses undar HKFRS 8, ses raspective
accounting policy note 1{k).

The measurement categories for all financial liabllities remain the same. The
carrying amounts for all financial liabilities at 1 January 2018 have not been
impacted by the initial application of HKFRS 9.

13
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Ciligroup Firs! invectmant Manageman! Linfagd
Elnansiel saternents for ie ypear ended 37 Depember 2078

1  Significant accounting pelicies {continued)

Cradit lpsses

HEFRS 8 replaces the “incurred loss” modal in HKAS 3% with the "axpected credi loss”
(ECL) model. The ECL model raguiras an ongoing measurement of credit risk
associated with a financial asset and thereiore recognises ECLs earlier than under the
“incurmed [oss” accounting mode| in HKAS 38,

Under HEFRS 9, the same impairmeant maodel is applied o all financial assets, excapt
for financial assets classified or designated as at FVTPL and equily securitias
designated as at FVOCI, which are not subjact to impairment assessment. The scope
of the HKRS 9 expected credit loss impairment model includes amorised cost financial
asgets, debt securitiss classified as FVOCI, and off balance sheei loan commitmenis
and financial guarantees which were previously provided for under HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabiliies and Contingant Assels.

The Company applies the new ECL mode] to the following items:

-  Financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and accounts receivable and other assets)

For further details on the Company's accounting palicy for accounting for credit losses,
see respective accounding policy note 1{k).

The impact to the Company's allowances for credit losses, due to the adoption of
HKFRS %, is considered to be immateral to the Company.

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of HKFRS 8 have been
apphed retrospectively, except as described below:

~  Informalion relating to comparative periods has not been restated, Differances in
the carrying amounts of financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS 9
are recognised in retained eamings and resenves as at 1 January 2018.
Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 continues to be reporied under
HKAS 29 and thus may not be comparable with the current period,

- The determination of the business medel within which a financial azset is held has
been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at 1 January
2018 {the date of initial application of HKFRS 9 by the Company).

- If, at the date of initial application, the assessment of whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since Initial recognition would have invalved

undue cost or effart, a lifetime ECL has been recognised for that financial
instrument.

14
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Ciligraw Firs? imaasimant Managament Limted
Financial stefamenis for the poar ended 31 Decembar 2018

Significant accounting policies {continued)
HKFRS 15, Revenie from contracts with cusfomers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for recognising revenue and some costs
from contracts with custormers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18, Revenue, which covered
revanue ansing from sa'e of goods and rendering of services, and HKAS 11, Consfruation
contracts, which specified the accounting for construction contracts,

HKFRS 15 also intraduces additional qualilative and guantitative disclosure requirements
which alm to enable users of the financial statements to understand the nature, amaount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

The Company has elected to use the cumulative effect transition method and has recognised
the cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity
at 1 January 2018. Therefore, comparative infarmation has not been restated and continues
1o be reported under HKAS 18, As allowed by HKFRS 15, the Company has applied tha new
requiraments only to contracts that were not completed before 1 January 2015, The
estimated impact on the amounts reported as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1
January 2018 is considered to be immaterial in raspect of the year ended 31 December
2018

Furiher delails of the nature and effect of the changes on previous accounting policies arne
set out belaw:

A, Timing of revenue recagnition

Praviously, revenue arising from construction contracts and prevision of services was
recognized over time, whereas revenue from sale of goods was generally recognized
at a point in time when the risks and rewards of ownerehip of the goods had passed to
the customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recagnized when the customar obtains confral of the
promised good or service in the contract. This may ba at a single point in tie or over
time. HKFRS 15 ideniifies the following three situations in which cantrol of the
promised goods or servica is regarded as being transferred over time:

- When the customer simultansously receives and consumes the benefils provided
by the entity's parformance, as the entity performs;

- When the entity's performance creates or enhances an asset (for example work in
progress that the customer contrels as the asset is created or enhanced;

- When the entity's periormance does not create an asset with an altermative use to
the entity and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance
complated to date,

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into any of these 3 situations,
then under HKFRS 15 the entity recognises revenue for the sale of that good or service
at a single point in time, being when contrel has passed, Transfer of risks and rewards
of cwnership is only one of the indicators that is considered in determining when the
transfer of control occurs.

15
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Caigrowsp Firat fovestiment Managemens Limifed
Finoncia! siafaments far the year snded 31 December 2018

1 Significant accounting policies {continued)

The adaption of HKFRS 15 does nat have a significant impact on the Company's
racognition of revenue.

B. Significant financing component

HKFRS 15 requires an entity to adjust the transaction price for the time value of money
when a conftract contains a significant financing compeonent, regardless of whether the
payments from customers are received significantly in advance of revenue recognition
ar significantly deferred,

Praviously, the Company only applied such a policy when paymants were significantly
daferred, which was not comman in the Company's arrangemants with its customers,
The Company did not apply such a policy when payments were received in advance.

It is not commeaen for the Company to receive payments significantly in advance of
revenue recagniticn In the Company's arrangements with ils customers.

Whera payment schemes include a significant financing component, the transaction
price is adjusled to separalely account for this companent. In the case of payments in
advance, such adjustmeant resulls in interest expense being accrued by the Company
to reflect the effect of the financing benefit obtained by the Campany from the
customers during the period between the payment date and the completion date of
legal assignment.

This change in policy has had no effect on retained earnings as at 1 January 2018,
(i} HK (IFRIC) 22, Foreign currency transaclions and advance consideration

This Interpretation provides guidance on determining “the date of the transaction” for the
purposs of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income {or part of it) arising from a transaction in which an entity receives or pays
advance consideration in & foreign currency.

The Interpretation clarifizs that “the date of the transaction” is the date on initial recognition of
the non-manetary asset or Rability ariging fror the payment or receipt of advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or recaipts in advance of recognising the
related Hem, the date of the transaction for each payment or receipt should be determined in
this way. The adoption of HK{IFRIC) 22 does not have any material impact on the financial
position and the financial result of the Company.

{d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cazh and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institufions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are

readily corwvertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject ta an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within threa months of maturity at acquisition.
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Criwrowp Fral vesiment Managemant LimYed
Financis! sislemaniz for the year anded 3 December 2018

Significant accounting policies {continued)
Revenue and othar income

Income Is classified by the Company as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services or the uze by others of the Company’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Company's businass,

Revenue is recognised when control over & product ar service is transferred to the customer,
or the lessee has the right io use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Company is expectad o be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third

parties.

Whera the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customear for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value
of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and interast income is accrued separataly
under the effactive interest method, Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit lo the Company, revenue recognised under that
cortract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract Hability under the effective
interest method. The Company lakes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 83 of
HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
compenent if the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Company's revenue and other income recognition policies are as
follows:

- Fee incoms is recognisad when the relevant services have been renderad.
- Interest income is racognised as it accrues using the effective interest method,
Provisions and contingent Habilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a lzgal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it Is probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the lime value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure axpected to seftle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a cantingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic banefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existance
will only be confirmed by the sccurrense or non-ocourrence of cne or more fulure events, are
also disclosad as contingent liabilities unless the probability of cutflow of economic benafits
s remote.
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Ciligronsg Flrst bnvestmend Managemant Limifed
Financia! stalaments for the year anded 31 December 2018

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Accounts and other receivables

Accounts and other receivables are iniially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest melhod, less allowance for credit losses {see note
1{k)(v}), except whers the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or tha effect of discounting would be immalerial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtiul debts are recognised when there is objective
evidence of impairment and are measured as the difference between the camrying amount of
the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset's original
effective interest rate where the affect of discounting is matarial.

Dhbjective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Company about events that have an impact on the asset's estimated future cash flows such
as significant financial difficulty of the dabtor.

Transfation of forelgn currencies

Faoreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dellars at the
foreign exchange rates nuling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign cumencies are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchangs
rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange galns and lossas are recognised in
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

income fax

Incomne tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax asssts and
liahilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss except to the extent that they relate 1o iterns recognised in other
comprehensive income ar directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or direcily in equily, respectively,

Current tax is the expectad tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporing pericd, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Defared tax assels arise from deductible temporary differences, being the differances
between the carrying amounts of assets and liakilities for financial reporting purposes and
the tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets and liakilities, all deferred
tax assels o the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised,

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the axpected mannar of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates

enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting pericd. Deferred 1ax assets and
fiabilities are not discounted.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Current 1ax balances and deferred tax balances, and movemeants tharain, are presantad
separately from each other and are not offset. Cument tax assets are offsat against current
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assels against deferred tax liabilities if, and only i, the
Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities. The principle of offsetting usually applies to income tax levied by the same lax
authority an the same taxable entity,

Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close mamber of that person’s family, is related to the Company if that
person;

{n
(i)
{iii)

has control or joint cantrol aver the Company;
hag gignificant influence over the Company; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the
Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies.

(i}

{ii)

(i}
{iv}

i)
i)

il

vili)

The entity and the Company are members of the same group {which means that
aach parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others),

One enlity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both antities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One enlily is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

The entity Is a post-employmeant benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
gither the Company or an entity related to the Company.

The entity is controlled or jointly cortrolled by a person identified in (a).

A person kdeniified in ()i} has significant influence over the entily or is a
meamber of the key management parsonnel of the entity (or of a parant of the

entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a parl, provides key
management personnel services to the Company or to the Company's parent.

Close members of tha family of a person are thase family members who may be expacted o
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Finaneial instrumeants
Initial recognition

Financial instruments are measurad initially at fair value, which nermally will be equal to the
transaction price, plus, in case of a financial asset or financial liability not held at fair valus
through profit or logs, transaction costs that are directly atiributable to the acquisition or issue
of the financial asset or financial liability,

The Company recognises financial assets and financial liabilites on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets is recognisad using trade date accourting. From this date, any gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities are
recorded.

Classification and subsequent measuremeant
(A) Classification of financial assets - Policy applicable from 1 January 2013

On Initlal recognition, the Company classifies financial assets as measured al
amoriised cost or FVTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL.

= itis held within a business model whosa objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on spacified dates to cash flows that are solzly
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI")

All other financial assets of the Company are measurad at FVTPL.
Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial
asset is held, the Company considers all of the relevant information about how the
business is managed, including:

-~ the documented invesiment stralegy and the execution of this strategy in practice,
This includes whether the investment strategy focuses on eaming contractual
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration
of the financial assets ta the duration of any related Fabilities or expected cash
outfiows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets,

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company's
manageameant;

- the risks that affect the performance of the busiress model (and the financial
assets held within that business madel) and how thosze risks are managed,
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1  Significant accounting policies (continusd)

- how tha managers of the business are compensated: e.g. whether compansation
is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contrachual cash flows
collzcted, and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financlal assets in prior pariods, the
reasons for such sales and expectations ahout future sales activity

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis are measured al FVTPL because they are peither held
to collecl contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to
sell financial assets.

Assassmeant whether confractual cash flows are SPF!

For the pumposzaes of this assessmant, 'principal’ is defined as the fair value of the
financial assat on inftial recognition. “Interest’ is defined as consideration for the timea
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding

during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g.
liguidity risk and administrative costs), as weli as a profit margin.

In aszessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual

cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
= leverage features;
- prepaymeant and extension features;

terms that limit the Company's claim to cash flows from specified assets {e.g. non-
recourse festures), and

- fealures that medify consideration of the time value of money (.0, periodical reset
of interast rates)

Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the
period after the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.
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Significant acecounting policies (continued)
(B) Classification of financial assets - Policy applicable before 1 January 2018
Loains and receivables

Loans and receivables include amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, accounts
receivable and other assets and cash and cash equivalents. These assets are
measured at amorised cost using the effective interest methed.

Other financial lfabilitics

Financial liabllities includes amount due to fellow subsidiaries and accounts payable
and accrued expenses. These liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Deracognition

A tinancial asset is derecognised when the condractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or whera the financial asset together with substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership, have been transfered,

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

The Company uses the welghted average methad to determine realised gains and losses to
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss and cther comprehensive income on
deracagnition.

Offselling

Financial assets and financial liabllities are offset and the net amount iz reported in the
statement of financial position where there is a legally enforczable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settla cn a net basis, or realise the asset and
settie the liability simulianeousky.

Impaimant
(&) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to Ifetime ECLs, except
for the fellawing, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date;
and

- otherfinancial assets for which credit risk {.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expacted life of the asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognition

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days pasl due.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

The Company considers a financial instrument fo have low credit risk when its credit
risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

Lifetime ECL= are the ECLs thati result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 menths after the reporting date (or a shaorter period if the expecled life of
the instrument Is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

Measurament of ECLs

ECLs are the probabilily-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the prasant value of all cash shertfalls {i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Company expects to recaive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credil-impaired financial assels

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at
amorised cost are credil-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-impaired” when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occumad.

Evidence that a financial asset Is credit-impaired includes the following cbsarvable
data;

slgnificant financial difficuity of the borrower or issuer,
- abreach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or

- itis probable lhat the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation

Prasentation of allowance for ECLz in the staternant of financisd position

Lo== allowances for finandal assets measured at amorised cost are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of the assats.

Wiite-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is wrilten off when the Company has no

reasocnable expectations of recovering a financlal asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof.
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1  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(BY Policy applicable before 1 January 2018

Financial assets not classified at FVTPL were assessed at each reporfing date to
detarmine whether there was objective evidence of impairment. & financial assetor a
group of financial assets was impaired’ if there was objactive evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset(s) and that loss event(s) had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
asset(s) that could be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assels were impaired included significant financial
difficulty of the borower or igsuar, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring
of the amount due on terms that the Company would not otherwise consider,
indications that a borrower or issuer would enter bankruptcy, disappearance of an
active market for a security or adversa changes in the payment status of the borower.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost was
calculated as the differance between its carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated fulure cash flows discounted at the asset's oniginal effective intarest rate,
Losses were recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account agains!
recaivables. Interest on the impaired asset confinued to be recognised. If an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised caused the amount of impairment loss
to decrease, then ihe decrease in impairment loss was reversed through profit or loss.

2 Turnover

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of investment managemant services.

2018 2047

5 $

Investment managament fee income 57,356 842 57,031,983
57.356 942 57,031,983

The nature of the above fee income is disclosed in note 13,
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Other net gain
2018 2017
S 3
Interest income from bank deposits with a
fellow subsidiary bank 1,477,579 19417
Foreign exchange (loss)gain {154,827 207,240
1,322,752 326,657
Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is amived at after charging:
2018 2017
3 3
Management fee expenses 19,628,027 22258411
Traller fea expanses - 3,318,662
Sub-manager fee expanses 6,836 458 §,583,203
Legal and professicnal fee 10,790,252 6,654,747
Auditors' remuneration 468,148 480,548

The nature of certain of the above related party fae expensas is disciosed in nole 13.

Income tax

Income fax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represents:

Taxation in the statement of profil or loss and olfier comprahensive income represents:

2078 2017
5 5

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax
Owver-provision in respect of the prior year (274,006) -
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 3,085,307 2,140,773

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 3,529 £23,973
2,814,830 2 664,745

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year Is caleulated at 16.5% (2017 18.5%) of
the estimated assessable profits for the year,

25

208/266



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Ciligroug Firg! ivesiment Management Limifed
Financal sfelements for the yoar ended 31 December 2018

5  Income tax (continued)

(b) Reconcifiation between income tax and accounting profit at applicable tax rafes:

2018 2017
Profit before faxation 20,042 968 16,501,910
Motional tax on profit before taxation at 16.5% (2017
16.5%) 3,307,090 2,722,815
Tax effect of non-taxable income and nen-deductible
loss (218,254) (53,898)
Cwer-provision in respect of prior year (274.0086) -
Othars - {4,171}
Actual tax expensa 2,814,830 2,664,746
fc) [Income tax in the statement of firancial positlan represents:
Current taxation in the stetement of financial position represents;
2018 2017
5 s
Currant taxation bought forwvard BZ5 688 -
Provigional Profits Tax Paid (2,756,814) {1,314,085)
Balance of Profits Tax provision relating to prior yeans (274,008) -
Provision far Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 3,085,307 2,140,773
881,075 826,888

Deferred tax assels recognised:

The compenents of deferred tax assais recognised in the staterment of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

2018 2017
$ E
At 1 January 2018 26,278 550,251
Charged to statement of profit or loss and other
camprehensive income (3,529) (523,8973)

At 31 December 2018 22 749 26,278

Ag at 31 December 2018, there is no significant defemed tax asset or liability not recognised
or provided for (2017 SNIl).
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Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Heng Kang Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies {Dizclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are as follows:

2018 2007

3 3

Directors’ fees - -
Salaries, allowancas and benefits in kind 8,654,708 8,678 456
Discrefionary bonuses 14,381,096 T 428,755
Share based payments 1,830,923 1,613,482
Retirement scheme contributions 758,100 740,100
25,634 B2T 18,458,833

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent depositz held at a fallow subsidiary bank as at 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

Amounts due from/to fellow subzidiaries

The amounts due fromfto fellow subsidiaries are unsecurad, interest free and repayabla on
demand.

Accounts receivable and other assets

2018 2017

¥ 5

Investment management fea receivable 7,283,614 11,133,466
Legal and professlonal fee recaivable 82725 1022T?2
7,366,330 12,158,238

All of the abave fee receivables except tax receivables are due from funds managed by the
Caompany. All the fee receivables ara interest free. unsecured and expected to be settled

within three months.
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10 Accounts payable and accrued expenses

ZMe 2017

5 3

Sub-ranager fee payable 2,615,365 868,890
Trailer fee payable - 407 BT
Legal and professional fee payable 084,433 2,597 917
Others 480 848 562 046
4 060,446 4,438 670

Included in sub-manager fee payable is an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of $2,350,065
(2017: $588,890). All accounts payable and accrued charges are interest free, unsecured
and expected to be settled within three months.

11 Share capital

{a) Issuved share capital

20718 207
Mo, of No. of
shares Amavnt shares Amount
g 3
Ordinary shares, iszsued and
fully paid:
At 1 January and
31 December 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

In accordance with section 125 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares
of the Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitlzd to receive dividends as dectared from time to fime
and are entitled to ane vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual asseis.

(b) Capital management
The Company's primary chjective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company's
ability fo continue as a going concermn. As the Company is part of a larger group, the
Company's sources of additional capital and policies for distribution of excess capital may
alsa be affected by the group's capital managemeant objactives.

The Company defines “capital” as including all components of equity. On this basis the amount
of capital employed at 31 December 2018 was $235,824 858 (2017: $218,971,200).
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Share capital (continued}

Tha Company's capital siructure is regularly reviewed and managed with dua regard to the
capital management practicas of the aroup to which the Company balangs. Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the
Company er ihe group, to the extent that these do not cenflict with the directors' fiduciary
duties towards the Company or the reguirements of the Hong Kong Companies Qrdinance.
The results of the directors’ review of the Company's capital structure are used as a basis for
the determination of the level of dividends, if any, that are declared.

As a licensed corporation registerad under tha Hong Kong Sacurities and Futures Ordinance,
the Company is also subject to the capital requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRR"). The minimum liquid capital requirement is the
higher of $100,000 and Ihe varable required liquid capital az defined inthe FRR. The
Company monitors its compliance with the requiremeanis of the FRR on a daily basis. The
Company complied with the reguirements of the FRR at all times during the year,

Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity and inlerast rate risks and foreign cummency risk arise in the
normal course of the Company's business. These risks are managed by the Company's
financial management policies and practices described below.

Credit risk

The Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents held at a
fellow subsidiary bank and outstanding fees receivable arising frem the Company’s
invesimenl management aclivities. Management has a cradit palicy in place and exposure to
cradit fisks is manitorad on an ongaoing basis.

Management fee receivables are regularly reviewed and seltled on a regular schadule. For
the halance due from fellow subsidiaries, management considers the default risk of the
financial assets placed with the group companies to be remote.

The maximum exposure to credit risk Is equal to the camrying amaount of thesa financial
assets as of the end of the reporting period.
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Financial instruments {continued)

Liquidity risk

The Company's policy is to regularly menilor its current and expacted liquidity requirements
1o ensure that il maintains sufficlent reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer ferm.

At 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2017, all financial liabilities mature within cne year
or are repayable on demand, Detalls of the earlisst contraciual settlement dates of the
financial liahilties are disclosed in notes B and 10.

interest rate risk

The Company i3 exposed to interest rate risk anly to the extent that it eams bank interest on
cash and cash equivalents.

Sensithity analysis

The following table indicates the estimated changes in the Company's profit before tax in
response to estimated changes in interest rate with all ether variables held constant at the

end of the reparting pericd.
2018 2017
Frofit Frofit
before tax before tax
increase’ increase’
{oecrease) (decreasea)
% 3 % 5
Changes in interest rate

=Increase 0.28 ©89,064 0.75 1,620,956
-Decrease = - -

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the annualised impact on the Company’s profit
before tax that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporling peried and had been applied to re-measure (hose financial instruments
hald by the Company which expase the Company to interest rate risk at the end of reporting
period. The analysis is performed on the same basks for 2017,
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12 Financial instruments {continued)

{e) Currency risk

0]

Currency risk arises from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rate will impact the
value of financial instruments.

To minimise the exposures to foreign currency risk, management ensures that the net
exposure iz kept at an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
whers necessary to cover the forgign currencies.

Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Company's exposura at he end of the reparting period to

currency risk arising from recognised assats or lisbilities denominated in currencies ather
than the functional currency of the Company to which they relate.

i 207
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Heng Kong dollar (HKD™) is pegged lo the United States dollar ("USD"), the Company
therefore consider the risk of movements in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD
ta ba insignificant.
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Financial instruments {continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Citiaroug First vestmend Managamaent Limited

Finaraial sheaments for e yesr ended 31 Decentbar 20H8

The following table indicates the instantanecus change on the Company's profit before tax
that would arise if foreign exchange rate to which the Company has significant exposure at
the end of reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables

remained constant.

2018 2017
Increase’ increase’

(decreasea) Increase’  (decrease) Increase’
in foreign {decrease) in foraign {decrease)
exchange on profit exchange o profit

rates before tax ratas before fax

% 5 %a 5

Australian dollars 2.04 14,280 536 41,739
{1.05) {7,327) - -

Eurp A NiA, 7.28 {196, 495)
Ni& MIA - i

Japanese Yen 0.26 6,415 4.53 356,379

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Company which expose the Company
ta foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including intercompany payables
and receivables that are denominated in cumrencies other than the functional currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of financial assets and llabilitizs are considered not to be materially different

from the carrying values in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and
31 Decamber 2017.
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Ciiprowg Firat imvestment fdanagurmes Limmited
Einancial slatements for the year snded 31 Decorbar 2018

Material related party transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Company had
transactions in the normal course of business with related parties as follows:

Faa income and expenses

Note 2018 2017
§ B
Fee income
Investrment management fee income (i) 57,356,842 57.031,283
Fee expenses
Trailer fee expenses (i - 3,318,662
Sub-manager fee expenses {iv) 3,290,514 3,514,503

The Company is the fund manager of the following funds during the year:

Principal Protecied Dow Jones Indusinal Average Linked Fund without Target Auto
Redemption (USD) (2008-12) {"Fund Serias 1 ) (Terminated on & February 2019)

Principal Protecled Mikkei 225 Linked Fund wilthout Target Auto Redemption (AUD)
(2008-01) ("Fund Series 4") (Terminated on 13 March 2019)

Knoek-in Type/lLowest Price Reference Nikkai 225 Linked Fund without Target Auto
Redemption (JPY) {2009-02) ("Fund Seres 67) (Will terminate on 18 April 2019)

Country Selector Foreign Cumency Series (USD) ("Fund Series 127) (Terminated on 31
January 2019)

Hybrid Tri-Asset Fund (JPY) (“Fund Series 14%)
Woarld CB Furd (JPY) ("Fund Serias 157)

Asia High Yield Bond Fund {"Fund Seres 18°)

Mexico Bond Fund ("Fund Series 19

Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 20°)
USD 95 Day Liquidity Fund {*Fund Series 24") (Terminated on 6 March 2018)
Global Balance Plus Fund ("Fund Seres 25")

Morth American Equity Income Covered Call Strategy Fund ("Fund Serias 267)
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Ciligroug Frs! lnvestmaen! Wanagemen! Limifod
Flrancial sfalermanis for tha yaer ended 31 Decomber 2018

Material related party transactions (continued)

US Focused Growth Equity Foreign Currency Series (Fund Seres 277)
Treasury Premium Plus Fund {"Fund Series 28")

Fixed Income Fund ("Fund Series 30")

Treasury Premium Plus Il Fund ("Fund Series 317)

USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1703 ("Fund Series 32"
JPM High Dividend Equity with Short [ndex Allocation ("Fund Series 337)
USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1710 ("Fund Series 247)
Treasury Premium Plus |l Fund (*Fund Series 35" (Terminated en 12 October 20118)
JGB Assst Swap Fund ("Fund Series 367)

Mikkel 225 Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 377)

Tangel Setting at Maturity Fund 1802 ("Fund Series 38°)

Target Setling at Maturity Fund 1808 ("Fund Series 407)

CGMYL Index Targe! Violatility Fund 2012 (SP) ("CGMYL")

Agzora US Triple Plus Fund “Aczora™) (Terminated in 2018)

Aozora US Government Bond Fund (with Active Currency Hedge) ("Aczora Government
Bond")

Canadian Government Bond Fund 7-10 {Currency Active Hedge/Private Placement)
CGET

Daiwa High Grade Canadian Bond Open Currency Active Hedge (Moninly Settlement
Type) ("Daiwa”}

Kokusai Turkish Bond Open (1M} Active Cumency Hadge ("KAM')

Mitsubishi UFJ Mexican Bond Open (Currency Actively Hedged) (Monthiy Dividend)
("MUAM Mexican Bond®)

Mitsubizhi UFJ US Dividend Growth Stock Fund (Currency Actively Hedged) ("MUAM
US Dividend"}

New Zealand Bond Open (Actively Hedged) Moninly Distribution Type {("Nomura
Manthly")
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Cifigroup First Investmant Manegemenl Limded
Finangial stafements far tha yaor anded 51 Dacamber 2018

Material related party transactions (continued)

New Zealand Bond Open {(Actively Hedged) Semiannually Setilement Type ("Nomura
Semiannually™)

Invesea Sterling Bond Fund (Active HedgedMonthly Districution) (flnvesca”)
16-056 JGE Repack Fund (JPY Active Hedged) Private Placement ("Okasan 16-067)

16-11 US Treasury 7 to 10 year Ladder Fund (JPY Active Hedged) Private Placement
{‘Okasan 16-117)

18-12 US Treasury Fund (JFY Active Hedged) Private Placement ("Okasan 16-127)

17-01 US Treasury 7 to 10 year Ladder Fund (JPY Active Hedged) Private Placement
{"Okasan 17-01%)

17-02 US Treasury 7 to 10 year Ladder Fund {(JPY Active Hedged) Private Placement
("Ckasan 17-02%

17-03 US Treasury 7 to 10 year Ladder Fund {(JPY Active Hedged) Private Placement
{"Okasan 17-03")

17-04 US Treasury 7 to 10 year Ladder Fund (JPY Active Hedged) Private Placemeant
{"Ckasan 17-04")

17-05 US Treasury Fund with Objectives Switching Clause [JPY Active Hedged) Private
Flacement ("Ckasan 17-057)

17-08 US Treasury ¥ to 10 year Ladder Fund {(JPY Active Hedged) Private Placemant
{"Okasan 17-06")

17-07 US Treasury 7 to 10 year Ladder Fund (JPY Aclive Hedged) Private Placement
{"Okasan 17-07%)

17-08 US Treaszury 7 to 10 year Ladder Fund (JPY Active Hedged) Private Placement
(*Ckasan 17-08%)

17-11 US Treasury 7 fo 10 year Ladder Fund (JPY Active Hedged) Private Placement
(“Ckasan 17-117)

The Company is the fund advisor of the following fund during the year

Japan Prime Selection Pramium Equity Open Mother Fund ("KAM Japan Prime
Selection®)
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Cligraug First lnvastment Managamand Limisd
Financial stelements for the year ended 31 Decomber 2018

Material related party transactions {continued)
The Company is entitled to fee income fram the fellowing funds under its management:
Investment management/advisory fee income

For Fund Seres 12, 14, 15, 18, 18, 20, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 35,

37.3B 40, CGMYL, Aozora, Aozara Govemment Band, CGB, Daiwa, KAM, MUAM Mexican
Bond, MUAM US Dividend, Nomura Menthly, Nomura Semiannually, Invesco, Okasan 16-06,
Okasan 18-11, Okasan 16-12, Okasan 17-01, Okasan 17-02, Okasan 17-03, Okasan 17-04,
Okasan 1705, Okasan 17-08, Okasan 17-07, Okasan 17-08, Okasan 17-11 and Japan
Prime Selection, fees are calculated at 0.01% to 1.8% per annum of the net asset value of
the funds.

For Serles 1, 4 and 6, fees are calculated at 0.3% per annum of the notional amount of units
in issue.

Pursuani o the distribution agreements signed between the Company and the distributors,
trailer fee expanses are payable o various distributers, including Citibank [Hong Kong)
Limited and Citibank Singapora Limited, which are fellow subsidiaries of the Company, in
respect of CSRF, CSF and CBF. Fees are charged based on amounts agreed bebween the
Company and the distributors. The total trailer fee expenses paid to Cilibank (Heng Kong)
Limited and Citibank Singapore Limited for the reporting period as at 31 December 2018
amounted to SNl (2017 SB70.405).

Pursuant to the sub-management agreement signed bebween the Company and the
sub-managers for Series 18, the sub-managers’ fee expenses are payatble to the
sub-managers calculated at 50% of the gross management fee income received. The total
sub-managers' fee expenses paid to the sub-managers for Series 19 as at 31 December
2018 amounted 1o 5333218

Pursuant to the letter agreement signed between the Company and Ciligroup Global Markats
Limited ({CGML"), a fellow subsidiary of the Company, for KAM Japan Prime Selection, the
data service fee expense payable to CGML are calculated at 0.18% par annum applisd ta
the daily net asset value of the fund. The total data service fee expenses paid to CGML as
at 31 December 2018 amounted 10 $2,357.296 (2017: $3,514,503).

Management fee expenses

The Company paid management fee expenses to fellow subsidiaries, which provided
ancillary sale support services to the Company. The management fee expanse for the
reporting period as at 31 Decamber 2018 amounted to $19,628,027 (2017 $22 258 411).

Key management personnel emoluments

Besides the directors' emoluments disclosed in note 8, there were no other key managament
personnel emoluments.

Amourts disclosed include emoluments totalling $25,834 827 (2017: 518,458 £833) to cerain
key management personnel were paid by group companies of the Company. The Company
did not directly reimburse the group companies for the service provided.
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Criigrowp Firat Ievesiment Manegement Limtad
Einancial sialaments for tha year anted 31 Decamber 2015

Immediate parent and ultimate controlling party

At 31 December 2018, the directors consider the Company’s immediate parent to be
Ciligroup Global Markets Hong Kong Holdings Limited, which was incorporated in Hong
Kong. This enlity producss financial statements but not available for public use. Its ultimate
controliing party at 31 December 2018 is considered to be Citigroup Inc., which was
incorporated in the United States of America. Citigroup Ine. produces consolidated financial
statements under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
which are available for public use.

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2018

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
endaed 31 December 2018 and which have not been adopied in these financial statemeants,
These include the following which may be relevant to the Company.

Effective for

accounting penods

beginning on ar affer

HK(IFRIC) 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments 1 January 2018
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle 1 January 2018

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of thess
amendments, new standards and interpratations is expected to ba in tha perod of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the financial statements.

av
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series (the
“ Series Trust” ), a series trust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust, set on pages 7 to 47,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the statement of comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in net assets attributable to the unitholder and the statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Series Trust as at 30 June 2019, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (* HKFRSs” )
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“ HKICPA” ).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“ HKSAs” ) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Series Trust in accordance with the HKICPA* s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“ Code” ) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information Other Than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report, but does not include the
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Trustee (continued)
Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust for the Financial Statements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and for such
internal control as the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible
for assessing the Series Trust’ s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager
and the Trustee of the Series Trust either intend to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust’ s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Trustee (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’ s and Trustee’ s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust’' s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG
6 December 2019
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Independent auditor®s report to the member of Citigroup
First Investment Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Citigroup First Investment Management Limited (* the
Company” ) set out on pages 7 to 37, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018, the statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of
changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2018 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“ HKFRSs” ) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (* HKICPA” ) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“ HKSAs” ) and with
reference to Practice Note 820 (Revised), The audit of licensed corporations and associated entities
of intermediaries, issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA"s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (* the Code” ) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor”s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the
information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor®s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
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I, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company®s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with
the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the
requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor™s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section

405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility

towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements. In addition, we are required to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override
of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company®s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors®™ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company®s ability to continue as a going concern.
IT we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor®s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor®s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
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Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and Hong Kong
Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince"s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong
29 April 2019
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